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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To shareholders of UAB Public Investment Development Agency 

Opinion 

We have audited the set of financial statements of the private limited liability company Public Investment 

Development Agency (hereinafter - the Company) consisting of a balance sheet as at 31 December 2016 as well as 

an income statement, statement of cash flows, statement of changes in equity and explanatory notes, including a 

summary of significant methods of accounting, for the year ending on 31 December 2016. 

In our opinion, the enclosed financial statements present an actual and fair financial position of the Company as at 

31 December 2016, its financial performance results and cash flows in all material aspects according to valid laws 

of the Republic of Lithuania governing financial accounting and the drafting of financial statements, and the 

Business Accounting Standards. 

Basis for expressing opinion 

We have conducted the audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (hereinafter - ISAs). Our 

responsibility under these standards is comprehensively described in the Chapter “Auditor’s Responsibility for 

Audit of Financial Statements” hereof. We are independent from the Company according to the Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (hereinafter - IESBA 

Code) and requirements of the Law on Audit of the Republic of Lithuania related to audit in the Republic of 

Lithuania. We also follow other ethics requirements related to the Law on Audit of the Republic of Lithuania and 

the IESBA Code. We believe that our collected audit evidence is sufficient and appropriate to substantiate our 

opinion. 

Other matters 

This auditor’s report changes the previous report published on 12 April 2017 regarding the financial statements of 

the private limited company Public Investment Development Agency for the year ended on 31 December 2016. We 

expressed unqualified opinion on the financial statements of the private limited company Public Investment 

Development Agency for the year ended on 31 December 2016 in the previous auditor’s report. The private limited 

company Public Investment Development Agency submitted new financial statements on 22 May 2017. The 

company clarified inaccuracies in the notes and transferred the amount of EUR 9503 from the balance sheet item 

“Prepayments” to the balance sheet item “Deferred costs and accrued income”. 

Other information 

Other information comprises information presented in the Company’s performance report, but does not cover 

financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The management is responsible for presenting other 

information. 

Other opinion does not include other information on financial reports and we do not provide any form of assurance 

thereon. 

When conducting an audit of financial statements, our responsibility is to read other information and to assess the 

possibility of presence of material discrepancies compared to the information presented in the financial statements, 

or to our knowledge based on the conducted audit, and of its other material misstatement. If based on the work 

performed we observe a material misstatement of other information, we must disclose this fact. We do not have 

any observations in relation thereto. 

Responsibility for financial statements of management and persons responsible for governance  

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 

with effective legal acts of the Republic of Lithuania governing financial accounting and the drafting of financial 

statements, and the Business Accounting Standards while implementing the internal control, which, in the opinion 

of the management, is necessary for preparing financial statements that are free from material misstatements, 

whether due to fraud or error.  
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When drafting financial statements, management must assess the Company’s ability to continue its business, and 

disclose (if necessary) things related to remaining in business and the application of the going concern accounting 

principle, except for cases when the management plans to liquidate the Company or terminate its activities, or has 

no other actual alternatives, but to only take this action. 

Persons responsible for corporate governance must monitor the process of drafting financial statements of the 

Company. 

Auditor’s responsibility for the audit of the financial statements 

Our aim is to obtain reasonable assurance as to the fact that the financial statements have no significant 

misstatements whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report presenting our opinion. Reasonable 

assurance is high-level assurance rather than a guarantee of a sure identification of misstatement, if any, during the 

audit, which is conducted in accordance with the IAS. Misstatements that may form due to fraud or error are 

considered material, if they, together or in insolation, can reasonably be believed to have a material impact on 

economic solutions of consumers made based on the financial statements. 

 When conducting the audit according to the IASs, we have been making professional decisions throughout the 

audit process and followed the principle of professional scepticism:  

• We have identified and assessed the risk of material misstatement of the financial statements due to fraud 

or errors, planned and carried out the procedures as a response to such risk, and have collected sufficient 

appropriate audit evidence to substantiate our opinion. The risk of non-detection of material misstatement 

due to fraud is greater than the risk of non-detection of material misstatement due to errors, because fraud 

may include swindling, forgery, deliberate omission, misleading interpretation or inobservance of internal 

controls. 

• We have understood audit-related internal controls to be able to plan audit procedures appropriate in 

specific circumstances rather than to be able to express our opinion on the effectiveness of internal control 

of the Company. 

• We have assessed the appropriateness of the applied methods of accounting and the accounting 

assessments made by the management as well as the validity of related representations.  

• We have made a conclusion on the appropriateness of the applied accounting principle of going concern 

and on whether there is, according to the collected evidence, a material uncertainty related to events or 

conditions, which may lead to significant doubt on the Company’s ability to remain in business. If we make 

a conclusion on the existence of such a material uncertainty, we must note related representations in the 

financial statements in our auditor’s report or, if such representations are insufficient, we have to modify 

our opinion. Our conclusions are substantiated with audit evidence which we collected to the date of the 

auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may lead to the Company’s inability to remain in 

business. 

• We have assessed the overall presentation of the financial statements, their structure and content, including 

representations, and whether the financial statements contain underlying transactions and events in a 

manner consistent with the concept of fair presentation. 

 

Among all other things, we have informed persons responsible for corporate governance about the scope of the 

audit and time of its performance as well as significant audit findings, including important deficiencies in the 

internal control, which we identified during the audit. 

23 May 2017 

Vilnius 

UAB JUNGTINĖ AUDITORIŲ KONTORA 

Audit company certificate No. 001244 

Laisvės pr. 125, Vilnius 

 

Auditor Ilona Matusevičienė     

Auditor certificate No. 000171 

 



Private limited liability company 
Public Investment Development Agency 

Legal entity code 303039520 
Headquarters address Lukiškių g. 2, LT-01512, Vilnius 

 

5 

 

ANNUAL REPORT 
 

GENERAL INFORMATION  

 

The private limited liability company Public Investment Development Agency (hereinafter – VIPA) was 

established by Resolution No. 1428 of the Government of the Republic of Lithuania “On Establishing the Private 

Limited Liability Company Public Investment Development Agency and Investing State Property” of 28 November 

2012. The Company was registered in the Register of Legal Entities on 11 April 2013 (updated on 12 December 

2016). The Annual Report was drawn up for the period of January – December 2016.  

 

VIPA is a financial institution established by the state, the aim whereof is to fund and encourage sustainable 

development in the areas were market failure exists. 

 

The nature of VIPA activities is the provision of financial services, administration and implementation of 

financial instruments designated for the implementation of public sector investment in the modernization of 

public infrastructure and public services. 

 

VIPA ACTIVITIES 

 

➢ implements financial engineering instruments (during the 2007–2013 European Union structural 

funds financing period), financial instruments (during the 2014–2020 European Union structural funds financing 

period), the instruments funded from other financial sources, by participating in the instruments as the manager 

of the holding fund (during the 2007–2013 European Union structural funds financing period), and /or the man-

ager of the fund of funds (during the 2014–2020 European Union structural funds financing period) (hereinafter 

jointly – the funds), as a financial intermediary and/or by other forms; 

 

➢ carries out the functions of an intermediary institution as it is defined in the Rules for Allocating 

Responsibility and Functions among Institutions in the Implementation of the 2014–2020 European Union Invest-

ment Action Programme, approved by Resolution No. 528 of the Government of the Republic of Lithuania “Regard-

ing Lithuania’s Allocation of Responsibility and Functions among Institutions in the Implementation of the 2014–

2020 European Union Investment Action Programme” of 4 June 2014 in cases established in the Resolution; 

 

➢ carries our actions with regard to the allocation of grants to cover deposits of own funds of the mu-

nicipality or parts thereof that are mandatory according to the requirements of the Description of Financing Con-

ditions of Projects Co-Financed from European Union Structural Funds, and the repayment of grants in accordance 

with the procedure laid down in the Description of the Procedure of Allocation and Repayment of Grants to Mu-

nicipalities, approved by Order No. 1K-213 of the Minister of Finance of the Republic of Lithuania of 26 May 2016 

“Regarding the Approval of the Description of the Procedure of Allocation and Repayment of Grants to Municipal-

ities”; 

 

➢ invests, provides loans, financial surety services, financial lease services and/or financial guarantees 

from the funds of urban development, public infrastructure, increasing energy efficiency and other funds, except 

for the European Union structural funds;  

 

➢ invests, disburses loans, financial surety services, financial lease services and/or financial guarantees 

from the Company’s equity, international financial institutions and/or private capital investments and/or other-

wise attracted funds according to laws of the Republic of Lithuania, resolutions of the Government of the Republic 

of Lithuania or legislation of other institutions on areas of investment of state funds adopted on the basis thereof; 

 

➢ In the implementation of the sad activities, VIPA attracts private sector investments or funds to the 

areas with identified market failure; 
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➢ VIPA publishes its provided financial services and provides comments and proposals to legal acts 

governing the administration and implementation of financial services to institutions under its competence; 

 

➢ VIPA disseminates and enhances the experience of the provision and administration of financial ser-

vices of the Company participating in, initiating or performing projects of dissemination of experience; 

 

VIPA can carry out licensed activities or activities, which require permits, solely having obtained the respective 

licenses or permits. 

 

LEGISLATION DELEGATING VIPA TO CARRY OUT AND IMPLEMENT ITS FUNCTIONS  

 

➢ In Lithuania, the Government of the Republic of Lithuania has been conferred the right to delegate 

the functions of the administration and/or implementation of financial instruments to national financial institu-

tions. Pursuant to provisions of Article 12 of the Law on Investment of the Republic of Lithuania No. VIII-1312  

(hereinafter - Investment Law), the state investment policy creates favourable conditions for private investment 

and ensures efficient use of state funds designated for investments or their promotion in pursuit of the state eco-

nomic and social development. In pursuit of promoting investments in the areas of renovation and development 

of housing and infrastructure objects of public infrastructure or infrastructure meeting public interest, the state 

allocates funds for implementing financial instruments and/or managing the funds of funds. The delegation of 

VIPA by the Government of the Republic of Lithuania as a state-owned financial institution is directly related to 

investment directions and financial instruments defined in the Investment Law.  

 

➢ Pursuant to provisions of paragraphs 4 and 5 of Article 12 of the Investment Law, Resolution No. 814 

of the Government of the Republic of Lithuania “On the Implementation of Article 12 of the Law on Investment of 

the Republic of Lithuania” of 5 August 2015, VIPA, as a state-owned financial institution, was delegated to manage 

funds of funds or implement financial instruments, when a fund of funds is not established, in the areas of renova-

tion of housing and objects of public infrastructure and increasing energy efficiency. VIPA will implement loan, 

guarantee, venture capital investments or other instruments from funds of 2014-2020 financial period, the funds 

or a part thereof designated for funding and/or implementing which come back and are reused to implement the 

same goals set at the time of creation of a financial instrument. 

 

➢ Resolution No. 528 of the Government of the Republic of Lithuania “Regarding the Allocation of Re-

sponsibility and Functions among Institutions in the Implementation of the 2014–2020 European Union Funds 

Investment Action Programme” of 4 June 2014. 

 

➢ By Resolution on the Amendment of the Rules for Allocating Responsibility and Functions among 

Institutions of 11 May 2016, VIPA was delegated a responsibility to conduct actions on the allocation of grants in 

accordance with the procedure established by the Minister of Finance of the Republic of Lithuania, when a munic-

ipality is allocated a grant in accordance with the Resolution No. 1326 of the Government of the Republic of Lith-

uania of 26 November 2014 “On the Approval of Annex to the 2014–2020 European Union Fund Investment Action 

Programme” for funding a deposit of own funds of a project promoter and/or a partner, and the recovery of this 

grant”. 

 

➢ Other legal acts governing activities of the company: the Law on Companies, the Law on Financial 

Institutions, the Law on Public Procurement, the Description of Guidelines of Transparency of Activities of State-

Owned Enterprises, the Law on Financial Accounting, and legal acts governing tax calculation and payment.
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KEY DATA 

 

Name Private Limited Liability Company Public Investment Development Agency 

Registration address Lukiškių g. 2, Vilnius 

Headquarters address Gedimino pr. 18/Jogailos g. 2, Vilnius 

Telephone (8 5) 203 4977 

E-mail info@vipa.lt 

Authorized capital EUR 2 001 136  

Legal form 
Private limited liability company, private legal person of limited civil 

liability  

Period of operation Unlimited 

Company code 303039520 

VAT payer code The Company is not a VAT payer 

Manager of the Register of Legal 

Entities 
State Enterprise Centre of Registers 

Articles of Association 

 

Registered in the Register of Legal Entities on 11 April 2013 (updated on 

12 December 2016) 

 

VIPA does not have any branches or representative offices. 

 

AUTHORISED CAPITAL. SHARES 

 

VIPA’S share capital is EUR 2 001 136, which consists of 69 100 ordinary registered shares of the nominal 

value of EUR 28.96 (twenty-eight euro and ninety-six cents) per share. All shares of the Company are of one class 

only – ordinary registered shares. 

 

The procedure and amount of payment of dividends are established by the general meeting of shareholders. 

The state is the owner of all shares of VIPA. When implementing at the Company the rights conferred by the shares 

owned by the state, the state is represented by the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Lithuania. 

 

MISSION, VISION, OBJECTIVES AND VALUES 

 

MISSION 

 

➢ To improve conditions of development of public infrastructure, promoting the development of the fi-

nancial market, efficiently planning, establishing and managing financial instruments. 

 

VISION 

 

➢ To be a national incentive funding authority, efficiently functioning in capital markets and leading in 

the area of public infrastructure financing.  

 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES 

 

1. To increase the scale of the accumulated funds for financing public infrastructure and public interest. 

2. To increase the Company’s performance efficiency. 

3. To become a reliable promoter of financial instrument programmes. 

 

 

VALUES 
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➢ Professionalism – we value competence and professionalism, and share them with our customers and 
partners. We always set the highest requirements for our work results. 

 

➢ Unity – each of us seek for common goals of VIPA and the state contributing our individual work result. 
 

➢ Persistent pursuit of ambitious goals - we seek to become a role model and initiate positive change in 
all areas of our operations.  

 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES AND THEIR MEASUREMENT INDICATORS 

 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES AND THEIR MEASUREMENT INDICATORS 
 

Objective 
Task 

 
Indicator 

Planned indicator 

values 

 

Actions, improvement 

priorities, comments 

 

Responsible 

persons Plan 

2016 

 

Actual 

2016 
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p
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b
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c 
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Development 

of 
programmes 

financed from 

EU SF  

Number of 
programmes 

implemented by 

VIPA, units 

≥ 5 6 

Ongoing cooperation is 

planned with various 

ministries of RL in order to 

propose financial 
instruments, which would 

contribute to the 

implementation of their 

strategic tasks and efficient 
use of their managed funds. 

Head of Funds 
Management 

Department 

Strategic 

direction 
Objective 

Planned indicator values  

Actual in 2016 

 

Actions, improvement 

priorities, comments 

 

Responsible 

person 

Plan 2016 Actual 2016 

In
cr
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f 
fi

n
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 i
n

st
ru

m
en

ts
 p

ro
m

o
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n
g 

in
v

es
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e
n

t 
in

 

p
u

b
li

c 
in

fr
as

tr
u

ct
u

re
   

Total amount of the 

accumulated funds for 

public infrastructure 
financing, EUR million 

 

300 235,2 

Funds attracted from the 

market are considered 

accumulated from the 
moment of signing an 

agreement for financing a 

specific project. Funds in the 

form of funds, financial 

instruments or grants are 
considered accumulated 

when VIPA is appointed by 

legislation as a manager of 

such instruments, and 

agreements  for financing 
such funds are signed. 

Head of Funds 

Management 
Department  

Return on equity, percent 
≥ 10 

proc. 
13,7   proc. 

The indicator is designated 
to measure the profit which 

the company generates 

compared to equity. The 

indicator is calculated as net 

profit/ equity. 

 
Head of Finance 

and Activity 

Organization 

Department  

Share of implementation 

of objectives provided for 
in financing agreements, 

percent 

75 75,67 

Calculated as the number of 

all projects having achieved 
programme goals/ the total 

number of completed 

projects and x 100. 

Head of 

Financial 
Instruments 

Department  



Private limited liability company 
Public Investment Development Agency 

Legal entity code 303039520 
Headquarters address Lukiškių g. 2, LT-01512, Vilnius 

 

9 

 

Development 

of activities of 
the national 

incentive 

funding 

authority  

Creation and 
regulation of the 

Company’s 

internal 

processes 
related to NIFA 

(national 

incentive 

funding 

authority) 
activities, 

percent 

90 90 

Based on the good foreign 

experience and considering 

specifics of the Lithuanian 

market, the plan is to define 
areas of operations of VIPA 

as a national incentive 

funding authority and its 

specific functions in these 

areas. The aim will be to 
define the functions of the 

national incentive funding 

authority by legislation, also 

planning for the review of 

internal processes and the 
creation of new processes 

necessary to start the 

provision of financial 

instruments on one’s own 
behalf and at own expense.  

Head of Funds 
Management 

Department 

To increase 
the number of 

sectors 

financed by 

means other 
than the EU SF 

Number of 

financed 

sectors, units 

1 0 

Active work identifying 

market deficiencies and 

areas where market failures 

manifest and the need for 

operations by the national 
incentive funding authority 

emerges is planned. 

Financial instruments, 

which could reduce the 
impact of manifesting 

market failures on the 

implementation of state 

objectives, will be proposed 

in these areas. 

Head of Funds 

Management 

Department 

T
o

 i
n

cr
ea

se
 t

h
e 

co
m

p
an

y
’s

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 e
ff

ic
ie

n
cy

  

Professional 

implementatio

n and 
application of 

management 

standards 

Share of applied 

management 

standards of the 

defined 
applicable 

management 

standards, 

percent 

80 40 

The plan is to identify a list 
of management standards 

based on corporate 

governance principles, 

which VIPA will implement 

in the management of the 
organization, and the 

current compliance of the 

organization therewith. 

Gradual introduction of the 
missing standards during 

the 2016-2019 period is also 

planned. If necessary, 

reorganization of the 

structure of corporate 
governance is planned. In 

the implementation of 

professional governance 

standards, the plan is to 

avoid reclassifying VIPA as a 
state sector institution. 

Head of Finance 

and Activity 
Organization 

Department 

Financial 

stability of the 
Company 

Revenue-to-cost 
ratio 

≥ 1 1,3 

Revenue and expenses of the 

Company will be 

continuously planned, 

implementing solely those 
activities, which create 

Head of Finance 

and Activity 
Organization 

Department 
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financial value for the 

Company in the long run.  

Optimization 

and 

effectiveness 
of the 

Company’s 

internal 

processes 

Number of 
optimized 

processes per 

year, units 

1 1 

Individual business 

processes will be reviewed 

in order to reduce costs of 
individual processes by at 

least 10% 

Head of Finance 
and Activity 

Organization 

Department 

Enhancing 
human capital 

of the 

Company 

Annual share of 

employees 

having left the 
Company after 

the trial period 

compared to the 

total number of 

employees, 
percent 

10 8,57 

Hired employees will 
undergo a very careful 

screening, while employees 

hired after the trial period 

will be provided with 

opportunities for 
continuous improvement 

(competence building) and 

self-realization. Employees 

will be continuously 

motivated to seek for the set 
personal and common 

organizational goals, they 

will be provided with an 

opportunity for self-

fulfilment in activities that 
best meet the level of their 

competence. The ratio 

between employees 

remaining and leaving after 
the trial period to the 

average number of 

employees from the 

beginning to the end of the 

year. 

Head of Finance 
and Activity 

Organization 

Department 

Average number 

of targeted 
refresher 

trainings/ 

courses per 1 

employee 

2 2 

Maps of competences will be 
drafted, the needs will be 

identified, and plans for 

employee trainings will be 

drawn up on the basis 

thereof, which would meet 
long-term needs of the 

organization. Also, the 

English language skills of 

employees will be 
continuously improved in 

language courses and 

individual training sessions. 

T
o

 b
ec

o
m

e 
a 

re
li

ab
le

 

im
p

le
m

en
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r 
o

f 
 f

in
an

ci
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in
st

ru
m

en
t 

p
ro

gr
am

m
es

 

Timely 

implementatio

n of projects 
by 

programmes 

Share of 

applications 

assessed within 
30 working days 

or faster, 

percent 

(according to 

the calculation 
methodology of 

VIPA, the 

sample of 

75 78 

The time of evaluation of 

applications is continuously 

monitored - the creation of a 
monitoring system, fast 

problem identification and 

improvement of the 

applications evaluation 

process according to the 
implemented LEAN 

methodology.  

Heads of 

departments 

responsible for 
programme 

implementation  
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assessment of 

applications 

consists of 

calendar days, 
thus 30 working 

days are 

assumed to 

include 45 

calendar days) 

Calculated: exact number of 

applications assessed within 

30 working or 45 calendar 

days / the total number of 
evaluated applications x 

100. 

To achieve the 

results of all 

administered 

programmes 

in a timely 
manner  

Share of 

projects having 

reached the 

programme 

goals, percent  

95 100 

All funded projects will be 
carefully selected (the 

projects are evaluated 

according to standardized 

evaluation procedures), 
assessing project risks and 

then applying the selected 

risk management solutions. 

Credit risk assessment 

model and risk management 
systems are implemented. 

Additional human resources 

in line with the growth of the 

number of projects will be 

allocated for programme 
implementation.  

Heads of 
departments 

responsible for 

programme 

implementation 

Focus on the 

client 

Annual average 

customer 

satisfaction with 

services 

provided by 
VIPA, percent  

70 77 

Persons directly working 

with VIPA customers are 

competent experts in their 

fields, because they 
continuously participate in 

trainings and raise customer 

service competences.  

Internal VIPA processes are 

continuously improved in 

pursuit for efficient 

resolution of customer 

problems and increased 
customer satisfaction. Also, 

the plan is to enhance 

communication with project 

implementers and end 

beneficiaries. 

Finance and 

Activity 

Organization 

Department 
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HIGHLIGHTS OF 2016  

 

1. Funding of multi apartment building modernization projects JESSICA Holding Fund (JESSICA) and 

the Multi Apartment Buildings Modernization Fund (DNMF)  

 

Till 2016, VIPA continued the implementation of Multi apartment building renewal (modernization) programme 

according to two contracts: 

 

➢ JESSICA Holding Fund (managed by the European Investment Bank); 

➢ Multi Apartment Buildings Modernisation Fund (managed by VIPA). 

 

1.1. JESSICA (financing Multi apartment building modernization projects from the funds of the 

2007-2013 programming period as a financial intermediary)  

 

In the implementation of the Conditional loan agreement concluded on 19 August 2013 by VIPA jointly with the 

CPVA with the European Investment Bank regarding the renovation (modernization) of multi apartment buildings 

through the implementation of activities of the JESSICA Holding Fund, by 31 December 2016, VIPA had concluded a 

total of 115 loan agreements regarding the renovation (modernization) of multi apartment buildings for a total value 

of EUR 29.8 million:  

➢ In 2016, 0 loan agreements were concluded for EUR 0 million; 

➢ In 2015, 17 loan agreements were concluded for EUR 5.2 million; 

➢ In 2014, 95 loan agreements were concluded for EUR 24.2 million;  

➢ In 2013, 3 loan agreements were concluded for EUR 0.5 million. 

 

During 2016, a total of EUR 1.8 million were disbursed under loan arrangements, with the total of EUR 29.5 

million being disbursed in loans for renovation (modernization) projects of multi apartment buildings during the 

2014 - 2016 period.  

 

Value of signed agreements, EUR/ Value of disbursed loans, EUR/ Total 
 

The implementation of 110 projects was completed, of which 46 projects were implemented in 2016, 63 - in 

2015 and 1 project - in 2014. 

0,00

5.000.000,00

10.000.000,00

15.000.000,00

20.000.000,00

25.000.000,00

30.000.000,00

35.000.000,00

2013 m. 2014 m. 2015 m. 2016 m. Iš viso

Pasirašytų sutarčių vertė, EUR

Išmokėtų paskolų vertė, EUR

115 vnt. 

3 vnt. 

17 vnt. 

95 vnt. 
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Completed projects, units 
 

During 2016, EUR 4.1 million in state support was allocated for energy efficiency enhancement measures for the 

completed projects. Out of this amount, EUR 1.4 million were written-off from disbursed loan amounts, and EUR 2.7 

million were received from the Climate Change special programme. A total of EUR 9.2 million in state support was 

conferred for energy efficiency enhancement measures for the completed projects. Out of this amount, EUR 3.5 million 

were written-off from disbursed loan amounts, and EUR 5.7 million were received from the Climate Change special 

programme. 

1.2. DNMF (Multi apartment buildings modernization project funding from the funds of the 2014-

2020 programming period as a financial intermediary)1 
 

On 27 March 2015, VIPA concluded a tripartite agreement on the establishment and funding of the Multi 

Apartment Buildings Modernization Fund (DNMF) with the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Lithuania and the 

Ministry of Environment of the Republic of Lithuania. VIPA was appointed to act as the manager of DNMF. The purpose 

of the DNMF is to promote the enhancement of energy efficiency by investing in the modernization of multi apartment 

buildings. The funds from the DNMF are designated for implementing the financial instrument by funding multi 

apartment buildings modernization projects. For the purpose of the implementation of DNMF, EUR 30 million were 

invested from 2014–2020 EU structural funds. 

Minutes No. D4-141 of 27 August 2015 of the meeting of the Supervisory Committee of DNMF held on 12 August 

2015 confirmed the decision of the Supervisory Committee to approve the increase of the contribution to DNMF up to 

EUR 74 million, by additionally allocating EUR 44 million, and approve the decision to obligate VIPA to use the funds 

that have been and/or will be repaid to the DNMF for the same purposes following the relevant legislation. Accordingly, 

amendment No. 1S-58/BSS-2015-79/2015/19-22 to the DNMF agreement was signed on 14 September 2015. 

As at 31 December 2016, there were 237 agreements concluded for the renovation (modernization) of multi 

apartment buildings for EUR 80 million, of which 221 agreements were concluded in 2015 and 16 - in 2016. The sum 

of disbursed loans was EUR 39.8 million during 2016, with the total amount disbursed in 2015-2016 being EUR 73.6 

million.  

 

                                                           
1 Annual report on the implementation of the project covering financial instruments funded from DNMF financed by the European 

Regional Development Fund (Annex No.1) 
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Value of signed agreements, EUR/ Value of disbursed loans, EUR/ Total 
 

 

The implementation of a total of 154 projects was completed, of which 128 projects were completed in 2016 and 

26 projects - in 2015. 

 

Completed projects, units 
 

During 2016, EUR 13.5 million in state support was allocated for energy efficiency enhancement measures for 

the completed projects. Out of this amount, EUR 5.2 million were written-off from disbursed loan amounts, and EUR 8.3 

million were received from the Climate Change special programme. A total of EUR 14.6 million in state support was 

conferred for energy efficiency enhancement measures for the completed projects. Out of this amount, EUR 5.7 million 

were written-off from disbursed loan amounts, and EUR 8.9 million were received from the Climate Change special 

programme. 

Negotiations on extending the scope of DNMF by additionally borrowing EUR 50 million from the European Bank 

for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD) were started in the beginning of 2016. The signing of a contract was 

planned in 2016, but given the fact that this is the first fund-raising transaction of VIPA, amendments to certain 

documents had to be made and they had to be approved with ministries, thus this process took longer than planned, 

and the signing of the contract is planned in QII of 2017. 
 

2. Financing the programme for the renovation (modernization) of dormitories of schools of higher 

education and vocational training institutions: JESSICA Holding fund (JESSICA) 
 

In the implementation of the Conditional Loan Agreement concluded on 18 July 2013 by VIPA jointly with the 

CPVA with the European Investment Bank regarding the renovation (modernization) of dormitories of schools of higher 

education and vocational training institutions, by 31 December 2016 VIPA had concluded 16 loan agreements, of which 

4 agreements were concluded in 2013 and 12 - in 2014. No new loan agreements were concluded in 2015 and 2016. 

The total value of the agreements was EUR 11.8 million. 
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The amount of loans disbursed during 2016 totalled EUR 3.7 million, and a total of EUR 11.8 million in loans was 

disbursed for renovation (modernization) of dormitories of schools of higher education and vocational training 

institutions in 2014-2016.  

 

Value of signed agreements, EUR/ Value of disbursed loans, EUR/ Total/ 12 units/ 16 units 
 

The implementation of all the 16 projects was completed as at 31 December 2016. 13 projects were completed 

in 2016 and 3 projects were completed in 2015. 
 

3. Energy Efficiency Fund (ENEF)2 
 

On 18 February 2015, VIPA concluded a tripartite agreement on the establishment and funding of the Energy 

Efficiency Fund (ENEF) with the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Lithuania and the Ministry of Energy of the 

Republic of Lithuania. The ENEF was established as a fund of funds that is managed on a trust basis and administered 

by VIPA. The purpose of the Fund is to increase energy efficiency by investing in public infrastructure. 
 

The funds of ENEF are used to implement two financial instruments: 

➢ Financial instrument of loans designated for the modernization of central government buildings;  

➢ Guarantee financial instrument designated for the modernization of street lighting of cities.  

The total contribution of ENEF is EUR 79.65 million. EUR 14.49 million were allocated to provide guarantees for 

street lighting modernisation projects, and EUR 65.16 million were allocated for the provision of loans for the 

modernisation of central government buildings. 

During 2015, VIPA created both financial products (of loans and guarantees) and published calls for applications 

under the instruments.  
 

In 2015, applications were received according to the ENEF financial instruments: 

➢ 1 application was received and approved for the provision of a guarantee for a street lighting modernisation 

project; 

➢ 53 applications were received for the disbursement of loans for the modernisation of public central govern-

ment buildings, of which 25 were assessed as eligible and 31 - as ineligible.   

 

The following applications were received in 2016:  

➢ 4 applications were received for the provision of a guarantee for the street lighting modernisation project 

(from Jonava district municipality, Šilutė district municipality, Plungė district municipality and Telšiai district munici-

pality). 2 conditional letters of commitment to issue a guarantee were issued. 

                                                           
2 Annual report on the implementation of the project covering financial instruments funded from ENEF financed by the 
European Regional Development Fund (Annex No.2)  
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➢ 33 applications were received for the disbursement of loans for the modernisation of public buildings of the 

central government, of which 18 applications were assessed as eligible, 12 applications - as ineligible, 2 are under as-

sessment and 1 application was withdrawn. 

No payments have yet been made from the Fund.  
 

4. Ex ante evaluations 
 

During 2016, VIPA continued its active participation in the preparation of ex ante evaluations designed for 

the development of financial instruments. The following were prepared in 2016: 

1. Reports on ex ante evaluations of water management, road infrastructure and cultural heritage: 
➢ initial draft reports on ex ante evaluations of water management, road infrastructure and cultural heritage 

were completed on 17 February 2016. The reports were presented for the assessment by the Ministry of Finance of the 

Republic of Lithuania. 

➢ Drafts ex-ante evaluations were being approved during the period from 15 March - 2 June 2016 consider-

ing the comments made by the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Lithuania and Public Institution Central Project 

Management Agency (CPVA).  

➢ Final reports on ex ante evaluations of water management, road infrastructure and cultural heritage were 

presented to the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Lithuania on 3 June 2016. 

➢ On 21 June 2016, all the three ex-ante evaluations were approved by the Supervisory Committee for the 

Evaluation of Public Infrastructure and Energy Efficiency Projects. 

➢ These ex-ante evaluations were presented and approved in the meeting of the Supervisory Committee of 

8 September 2016. 

2. Report on ex-ante evaluations was prepared upon the presentation of the Ministry of Finance, and a 

report of ex-ante evaluations with amendments made thereto was presented in the meeting of the Supervisory Com-

mittee for the Evaluation of Public Infrastructure and Energy Efficiency Projects of 29 August 2016. The need for 

amendments was identified after the explanations provided by the European Commission (the method of application 

of loan interest subsidies and the mechanism of expenses of technical documentation differed from that presented in 

the initial ex-ante report). 
 

5. Repayable subsidy  

In Half I of 2016, the Description of Conditions for Funding Instrument Projects was being approved, the Manual 

of Procedures of the Repayable Subsidy of VIPA was revised according to the comments made by the Management and 

Control System Maintenance Division under the European Union Structural Support Management Department and the 

National Audit Office. Also, information necessary for VIPA accreditation and the Management and Control System was 

presented. 

On 15 June 2016, a letter of the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Lithuania was received, informing that 

VIPA meets the requirements for implementing the instrument by way of repayable subsidy laid down in the Action 

Programme Administration Rules (VPAT).  

On 4 July 2016, the Minister of Energy of the Republic of Lithuania approved the Description of Conditions for 

Funding Instrument Projects. 
 

6. Municipal grant 
 

Order No. 1K-327 “On the Amendment of the Order No. 1K-213 of the Minister of Finance of the Republic of 

Lithuania of 26 August 2016 “On the Approval of the Description of the Procedure for Allocating Grants to Municipalities 

and Repaying them” of 26 May 2016” took effect on 30 August 2016. 

Considering Order No. 1K-327 of the Minister of Finance of the Republic of Lithuania of 26 August 2016, 

amendments to the Manual of Procedures of Municipal Grants were made. 

A contract on the allocation of a grant was signed with Druskininkai municipality on 24 November 2016. 

On 19 December 2016, a proposal to allocate a grant for the implementation of the project “Development of the 

Social Housing Fund in Širvintai city” of Širvintai district municipality was sent to the Ministry of Finance of the Republic 

of Lithuania. 

On 21 December 2016, a proposal to allocate a grant for the implementation of the project “Renovation and 

Development of the Supply of Drinking Water and Wastewater Management Systems in Šalčininkai District (the towns 
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of Šalčininkai, Baltoji Vokė and Jašiūnai” of Šalčininkai district municipality was sent to the Ministry of Finance of the 

Republic of Lithuania. 

On 28 December 2016, a proposal to allocate a grant for the implementation of the project “Development of the 

Social Housing Fund in Elektrėnai Municipality” was sent to the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Lithuania. 

An application of Pagiegiai municipality for allocating a subsidy for the project “Renovation and Development of 

the Supply of Water and Wastewater Management Infrastructure in Pagėgiai municipality (in Natkiškiai and 

Piktupėnai)” was received on 28 December 2016. 

 

7. Securitization (substitution by securities) 

 

In Half 1 of 2016, VIPA continued considering a possibility to attract private sector funds to energy efficiency 

projects by way of securitization. Data on loaning capacity for modernization of multi apartment buildings were 

assessed, modelling possible transaction parameters (cost of funding, achievable leverage) and operating transaction 

framework. The project of substitution by securities was introduced to potential investors and national authorities, 

such as the Bank of Lithuania, the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Lithuania and the Ministry of Environment of 

the Republic of Lithuania.  

In 2016, negotiations were continued with EPRB on attracting interim financing and participating in the 

preparation of a transaction of substitution by securities. In May - June of 2016, EPRB performed the assessment of 

VIPA and its conducted activities, and a feasibility study of the transaction. EPRB decision on the allocation of funding 

for the programme of the modernisation of multi apartment buildings was already received, which will allow increasing 

the loan portfolio to the appropriate level for transferring it to investors in the form of securities. It should be noted 

that having assessed the aims of VIPA and its progress in the field, EPRB provided technical assistance (of about EUR 

200 000) to Lithuania (by signing a contract with the Ministry of Finance) for harmonizing the national law and the 

regulatory environment for substitution by securities with best practice in the area. Considering the outcome of the 

negotiations with the EBRD, the plan is to solve the issues of formalization of the project of substitution by securities 

and issues related to attracting resources. 

VIPA conducted the sessions for the assessment of the preparation for the execution of the transaction of 

substitution by securities (in participation of legal advisors). The following immediate tasks were distinguished: (i) the 

modelling of the structure of payback and pay for transaction, (ii) compliance having assessed the requirements that a 

loan servicer of ratings agencies is subject to, (iii) preparation of cash flows and account scheme framework.  

Given the scope of works and the necessary external preparatory works, the plan is to have a pilot securitization 

transaction conducted in 2018. 
 

8. Programme for increasing energy efficiency of blocks  
 

VIPA conducted an analysis of 3 pilot block modernization projects, including the scheme of implementation, 

preliminary calculated supply and demand for financial resources and activity implementation schedule, and sent it to 

the authorities concerned with comments thereto. 

On 11 February 2016, VIPA presented comments and recommendations to the Description of the Procedure of 

Preparation and Implementation of the Programme for Increasing Energy Efficiency of Blocks. 

On 1 June 2016, the Government of the Republic of Lithuania adopted a Resolution No. 547 on the approval of 

the Description of the Procedure of Preparation and Implementation of Programmes for Increasing Energy Efficiency 

of Blocks and appointment of VIPA to act as a financer of the programme.  

Pursuant to paragraph 2.2 of the Resolution No. 547 the Government of the Republic of Lithuania “On the 

Approval of the Description of the Procedure of Preparation and Implementation of Programmes for Increasing Energy 

Efficiency of Blocks and paragraph 1.1 of Minutes No. D4-96 of the Ministry of Environment of the Republic of Lithuania 

of 7 June 2016 “Minutes on Adopted Decisions of the Supervisory Committee of the Multi Apartment Building 

Modernization Fund”, servicers appointed by Šiauliai, Utena and Birštonas municipalities submitted applications for 

the modernization of energy efficiency of 3 pilot blocks according to the Description of the Procedure of Preparation 

and Implementation of Programmes for Increasing Energy Efficiency of Blocks approved by the Government of the 

Republic of Lithuania on 1 June 2016. 

On 15 June 2016, VIPA evaluated the applications for the modernization of energy efficiency of 3 pilot blocks 

presented by servicers appointed by Šiauliai, Utena and Birštonas municipalities and drafted the plans for financing the 

project for increasing energy efficiency in the said blocks. 
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Pursuant to the approved plan for financing the project for increasing energy efficiency of Aukštakalnis block 

located in the city of Utena, on 18 August 2016, VIPA invited 4 multi apartment buildings in Aukštakalnis block, where 

procurement procedures for contractor works were already completed, to submit applications for loans for renovation 

of multi apartment buildings. 
 

9. Change of articles of association of VIPA 
 

On 23 December 2015, the Government’s Resolution No. 1380 established that financial assets (money) owned 

by the state, namely, EUR 1 899 776 (one million eight hundred and ninety nine thousand, seven hundred and seventy 

six euros) shall be transferred for increasing authorized capital of VIPA as an additional state contribution, also obligat-

ing to agree to the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Lithuania as a manager of shares of the Company owned by 

the state making a decision to increase the Company’s authorized capital by an additional contribution of EUR 1 899 

776 (one million eight hundred and ninety nine thousand, seven hundred and seventy six euros) by issuing 65 600 

dematerialized ordinary registered shares. On 31 December 2015, EUR 1 899 776 (one million eight hundred and ninety 

nine thousand, seven hundred and seventy six euros) was transferred to VIPA. 

 On 16 March 2016, the execution of orders related to the registration of the increase of the authorised capital in 

the Register of Legal Entities was provided for in the Order No. 1K-88 of the Minister of Finance of the Republic of 

Lithuania “Regarding the Increase of the Authorized Capital of the Private Limited Liability Company Public Investment 

Development Agency” and Order No. 1K-259 of the Ministry of Finance of 8 February 2013 “On the Approval of Articles 

of Association of the Private Limited Liability Company Public Investment Development Agency”; the articles of associ-

ation were registered on 20 April 2016. 

Amendments to VIPA articles of association were approved by Order No. 1K-431 of the Minister of Finance of 

the Republic of Lithuania of 6 December 2016 “Regarding to the Amendment of Order No. 1K-059 of the Minister of 

Finance of the Republic of Lithuania of 8 February 2013 “On the Approval of Articles of Association of the Private Lim-

ited Liability Company Public Investment Development Agency”. The amendments were made considering the recom-

mendations by the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) to Lithuania on increasing inde-

pendence of state-owned companies. Also, to create conditions for VIPA to become a national incentive funding body in 

order to use the European Fund for Strategic Investments (EFSI) more efficiently and to coordinate EFSI funding with 

EU structural and investments funds and other financial instruments in the areas known for the shortage or insuffi-

ciency of funding, also to ensure funding mechanisms of investment projects important to the public sector from 

owner’s equity, funds of international financial institutions and the private sector. 

The changed articles of association signed by the Managing Director were notarized and registered in the Regis-

ter of Legal Entities on 12 December 2016.  
            

VIPA CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE  
 

VIPA management bodies: 

➢ General Meeting of Shareholders; 

➢ Supervisory Board; 

➢ Board; 

➢ Managing Director.  
 

Deputy Managing Director was selected by way of contest in Q II of 2016. The General Meeting of Shareholders 

of the Company is its supreme body of management. Decisions passed in writing by the Ministry of Finance of the 

Republic of Lithuania are considered to be equal to the decisions of the General Meeting of Shareholders. The 

Supervisory Board is a collegial body supervising activities of the Company and submitting proposals to the General 

Meeting of Shareholders. The Board of the Company is a collegial body elected for a term of office of four years. Members 

of the Board are elected by the Supervisory Board. The Chairman of the Board is elected by the Board from among its 

members.  

The structure of collegial bodies of VIPA was reviewed in Q IV of 2016. A decision was made by Order No. 1K-

431 of the Minister of Finance of the Republic of Lithuania of 6 December 2016 “Regarding the Amendment of the Order 

No 1K-059 of the Minister of Finance of the Republic of Lithuania “On the Approval of Articles of Association of the 

Private Limited Liability Company Public Investment Development Agency” of 8 February 2013” to establish in VIPA 

articles of association that its Supervisory Body shall consist of 5 instead of previous 3 members of the Supervisory 
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Board, of which 2 members shall be independent, and that when forming the Board of VIPA, it shall consist of 3 VIPA 

employees and/or independent members instead of the former 5 members. 

 

Members of the Supervisory Board (according to data of 31 December 2016) 

Name, surname Place of work 
Beginning of the term 

of office 

Agnė Bagočiutė Vice Minister of Finance of the RL 27-05-2016 

Audrius Zabotka Managing Director of UAB Investicijų ir Verslo Garantijos  21-12-2012 

Živilė Turevičienė 
Head of the Division of Institution Activities of the Ministry of 

Finance of the RL 
21-12-2012 

 

Members of the Board (according to data of 31 December 2016) 

Name, surname Place of work 
Beginning of the term 

of office 

Aušra Vičkačkienė (Chair 

of the Board) 

Director of the Assets Management Department of the 

Ministry of Finance of the RL 
08-02-2013 

Audrius Želionis (Deputy 

Chair of the Board) 

Director of the State Treasury Department of the Ministry of 

Finance of the RL 
08-02-2013 

Daiva Pipirienė 
Head of Department of Economics of the Ministry of Finance 

of the RL 
08-02-2013 

Lina Frejutė 
Deputy Head of the Division of Institution Activities of the 

Ministry of Finance of the 
08-02-2013 

Jūratė Lepardinienė 
Deputy Director of the PI Central Project Management 

Agency 
08-02-2013 

 

Pursuant to the amended articles of association of VIPA registered on 12 December 2016, the Board shall 

establish the procedure of the selection contest of the Managing Director, elect and recall the Managing Director, set his 

salary and other employment agreement conditions, approve job descriptions, motivate and impose penalties. A 

decision on specific amounts of the fixed and variable components of the monthly salary of the Managing Director shall 

be made having received a consent of the General Meeting of Shareholders. 

The manager of the Company is the sole governing body of the Company, who organizes daily operations of the 

Company within the limits of his powers. Since 2 May 2013, Gvidas Dargužas has held the post of the Managing Director 

of the Company. Paulius Jankauskas has held the post of Deputy Managing Director since 23 May 2016. 

No remuneration, bonuses or other benefits was computed for members of the Supervisory Board or the Board 

in 2016. 
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             ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE 
 

FINANSŲ IR VEIKLOS 
ORGANIZAVIMO

 SKYRIUS

9 ETATAI

GENERALINIS 
DIREKTORIUS

GENERALINIO 
DIREKTORIAUS 
PAVADUOTOJAS

VIDAUS 
AUDITORIUS

RIZIKOS VALDYMO IR 
INVESTICIJŲ 

SKYRIUS

6 ETATAI 

FINANSINIŲ
 PRIEMONIŲ SKYRIUS

10  ETATŲ

VISUOTINIS AKCININKŲ SUSIRINKIMAS

STEBĖTOJŲ TARYBA

VALDYBA

FONDŲ VALDYMO
 SKYRIUS

5 ETATAI 

PARAMOS
 PROGRAMŲ SKYRIUS

3  ETATAI

                 ETATAI
1 VYR. FINANSININKAS/
SKYRIAUS VADOVAS
6 FINANSININKAI
1 PASKOLŲ 
ADMINISTRAVIMO 
SPECIALISTAS
1 ADMINISTRACIJOS 
SPECIALISTAS

                  ETATAI
1 SKYRIAUS VADOVAS
3 EKSPERTAI
1 IT SISTEMŲ VYSTYTOJAS
1 RIZIKŲ SPECIALISTAS

                  ETATAI
1 SKYRIAUS VADOVAS
2 EKSPERTAI
7 PROJEKTŲ VADOVAI

                ETATAI
1 SKYRIAUS VADOVAS
1 EKSPERTAI
3 PROJEKTŲ VADOVAI

               ETATAI
1 SKYRIAUS VADOVAS
2 PROJEKTŲ VADOVAI

 
General Meeting of Shareholders/ Supervisory Board/ Board 

Internal Auditor/ Managing Director/ Deputy Managing Director 

Finance and Activity Organization Department (9 positions)/ Risk Management and Investment Department (6 

positions)/ Financial Instruments Department (10 positions)/ Funds Management Department (5 positions)/ 

Assistance Programmes Department (3 positions) 

Positions: 1 Chief Financial Officer/ Head of the Department; 6 Financial Officers, 1 Loan Administration Specialist, 

1 Administration Specialist 

Positions: 1 Head of the Department, 3 Experts, 1 IT Systems Developer, 1 Risk Specialist 

Positions: 1 Head of the Department, 2 Experts, 7 Project Managers 

Positions: 1 Head of the Department, 1 Expert, 3 Project Managers 

Positions: 1 Head of the Department, 2 Project Managers 
 

On 31 December 2016, there were 38 employees working in the Company, with the average number of employees on 

the list being 35. 
 

 2013 2014  2015  2016 

Number of employees at the end of the 

reporting period  
8 14 30 38 

Average number of employees on the list 6 12 20 35 

Average salary (EUR) 1 153  1 336 1 745 1 546 

Training expenses 4 269 5 883 30 581 27 878 

Business trip expenses 1 595 14 094 20 667 36 802 

 

In 2016, employees went to meetings held by the European Commission and trainings related to the 

implementation of Energy Efficiency Directive and Directive on Energy Efficiency of Buildings, and implementation of 

financial instruments. They took part in programme presentations, events and introductory meetings of international 

projects GuarantEE and Interreg. Also employees of the Company attended the event held by the European Investment 

Bank for national incentive funding institutions “EIB Induction Programme”, and seminar for modelling transactions of 
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substitution by securities (securitization) “Peer - to - Peer ABS Securitisation Brand New Asset Class” held by Creative 

Capital Partners.  
 

VIPA Loan Committee 
 

A body examining documents of applications for loans for renovation (modernization) of multi apartment 

buildings or loans for renovation (modernization) of dormitories, assessing the loan risk and submitting proposals to 

the Managing Director of VIPA regarding the granting of loans or changing their terms, interest rates, improvement in 

loan administration or risk management procedures and performing other functions set forth in the Rules of Procedure 

of the Loan Committee was set up by Order of the Managing Director of VIPA of 23 September 2013. 

The Loan Committee consists of 3 VIPA and 2 CPMA representatives. 

9 Loan Committee meetings were held in 2016. 
 

VIPA Loan and Guarantee Committee 
 

A separate body examining documents of guarantee and loan applications, except for applications for loans for 

renovation (modernization) of multi apartment buildings or loans for renovation (modernization) of dormitories, 

assessing guarantee or loan risk, and submitting proposals to the Managing Director of VIPA regarding the issuance of 

loans and guarantees, or changing their terms, interest rates, improvement in loan or guarantee administration or risk 

and performing other functions set forth in the Rules of Procedure of the Loan and Guarantee Committee was set up by 

Order of the Managing Director of 17 December 2015. 

The Loan and Guarantee Committee consists of 5 VIPA representatives.  

17 meetings of the Loan and Guarantee Committee were convened in 2016. 
 

KEY INDICATORS FOR 2015 AND 2016  

 

 2015   2016   

Revenues , EUR 1 681 521 1 772 426 

Net profit (loss) , EUR 653 999 424 272 

Authorized capital, EUR 101 360 2 001 136 

Shareholders’ equity, EUR 873 096 3 097 947 

Profit (loss) per share, EUR 187 6 

Number of shares 3 500 69 100 

Investments, EUR 92 958 119 336 

Number of employees at the end of period (people) 30 38 
 

INVESTMENT 
 

In 2016, investments in non-current tangible and intangible assets totalled EUR 119 336. Laptops and software were 

purchased. 
 

REVENUES 
 

During 2016, VIPA earned EUR 1 772 426 in revenues. The revenues of VIPA consist of the management fee 

received for: 

➢ performance of the functions of a financial intermediary for the implementation of programmes of renovation 

(modernization) of dormitories of schools of higher education and vocational training institutions, and multi 

apartment buildings; 

➢ performance of the functions of the manager of the Multi Apartment Buildings Modernization Fund; 

➢ performance of the functions of the manager of the Energy Efficiency Fund. 
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OPERATING EXPENSES 
 

In 2016, in the performance of its activities VIPA incurred EUR 1 349 250 in costs, including cost compensation 

from funs of technical support of the European Union. A major part of operating expenses was the expenses related to 

employment relations, and a fee paid to CPMA for assistance in the implementation of programmes of multi apartment 

buildings renovation (modernization), and the renovation (modernization) of dormitories of schools of higher 

education and vocational training institutions. Other costs include expenses related to the lease of premises, utilities, 

communication services, business trips, legal services, installation of information systems, currency conversion and 

similar costs.  
 

On 8 October 2013, VIPA concluded a contract with the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Lithuania, and the 

Central Project Management Agency regarding the project “Implementation of the functions of the preparedness of 

VIPA to implement a programme, which will replace the strategy for the use of EU structural assistance for 2007–2013 

during the next programming period, and the implementing action programmes”; the funds of the project are used to 

compensate part of the institution maintaining expenses, related to the preparedness for the administration of the 

operational programmes of the EU investment funds for 2014–2020, and the projects funded by way of repayable 

subsidy. EUR 123 706 was used to compensate the costs concerned. 

 

 

Managing Director Gvidas Dargužas 
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Annex No. 1  
 

MULTI APARTMENT BUILDINGS MODERNIZATION FUND 
FINANCED BY THE EUROPEAN REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT FUND 

ANNUAL REPORT ON THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE PROJECT COVERING FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  
 

Particulars of the project promoter: Private limited liability company  

Public Investment Development Agency (hereinafter - VIPA) 
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Description of the project being implemented 

Description of the project  and procedure of its implementation 

On 7 November 2014, the Committee for the Assessment and Supervision of Public Infrastructure and Energy 

Efficiency Projects approved the Preliminary Assessment of Energy Efficiency3 (hereinafter – the Preliminary 

Assessment). This Assessment determined that 1) the need for investments for the modernization of multi apartment 

buildings in pursuit of energy efficiency exceeds 1 billion euros, 2) supply of funds available in the market is 

insufficient to cover this need for investment; 3) creation of financial instruments during the 2014-2020 European 

Union Structural Funds investment period is expedient. In light of the fact that a large demand for projects for the 

modernization of multi apartment buildings formed during the period from 2013 till the end of 2014, which could 

no longer be covered using other effective measures, such as the JESSICA Holding Fund managed by the European 

Investment Bank, a decision was made to establish a financial instrument “Multi Apartment Buildings 

Modernization Fund” (hereinafter - DNMF). Having fulfilled all procedures for the selection of a manager of the 

financial instrument, VIPA was appointed the manager of DNMF. On 27 March 2015, a contract on the establishment 

and financing of DNMF No. 1S/18/BS-2015-3/2015/19-11 was signed by VIPA, the Ministry of Environment of the 

Republic of Lithuania and the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Lithuania.  EUR 30 million from 2014-2020 EU 

Structural Funds was allocated for the implementation of DNMF under the task 4.3.1 of the European Union Funds 

Investment Action Programme “To reduce energy consumption in public infrastructure and multi-apartment 

buildings” in the implementation of the activity of 4.3 investment priority regarding renovation and modernization 

of multi apartment buildings in application of measures increasing energy efficiency. DNMF was established as a 

financial instrument, and funds were allocated for DNMF to implement the financial instrument by funding multi 

apartment building renovation projects. 

A decision of the Supervisory Committee to approve the increase of contribution to DNMF to EUR 74 000 000 

(seventy four million euros) additionally allocating EUR 44 000 000 (forty four million euros) and to consent to 

VIPA’s use of repaid funds and/or funds to be repaid to DNMF for the same objectives following legal acts was 

approved by minutes No. D4-141 of the meeting of the DNMF Supervisory Committee held on 12 August 2015. 

According, amendment to the DNMF contract No. 1S-58/BSS-2015-79/2015/19-22 was signed on 14 September 

2015. 

DNMF was implemented pursuant to the Programme for Renovation (Modernization) of Multi Apartment Buildings 

approved by Resolution No. 1213 of the Government of the Republic of Lithuania of 23 September 2004 and other 

legal acts governing modernization of multi apartment buildings. 

All loan provision conditions are laid down in the Description of the Procedure for the Provision of Loans of Multi 

Apartment Buildings Modernization Fund approved by order No. 2015/9-9 of the Managing Director of VIPA of 27 

March 2015. 

 The following requirements for projects have been set: 

1. A multi apartment building, which is planned to be renovated, was built on the basis of construction permits 
issued before 1993; 

2. The investment plan provides for the achievement of energy efficiency class of C at the least, and to reduce the 
previous computed heat energy costs by at least 40 percent; 

3. At least 55 percent of all owners of apartments and other premises consent to the renovation of the multi apart-
ment building. 

 

Potential beneficiary is a natural or legal person, who owns an apartment or different premises, or a few natural or 

legal persons, if the apartment or other premises are owned by the right of joint or shared ownership, and/or their 

successors. 

2. Systematic changes that affected project implementation (where applicable)  

Description of actions that had a direct or indirect impact on the implementation of the project during its 

implementation, for example, changes in the legal environment, unplanned social or economic changes 

                                                           
3 Amendments to the Preliminary Assessment were presented in the meeting of Committee for the Assessment and Supervision 

of Public Infrastructure and Energy Efficiency Projects held on 29 August 2016, and they were approved by minutes of the 

meeting No. 11 (24.41-03), but amendments were not related to financial instruments of renovation of multi apartment 

buildings. 
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Changes in the legal environment: 

1. Changes in the approval of the rules for the provision of state support for the renovation (modernization) of multi 

apartment buildings and supervision over the implementation of projects of renovation (modernization) of multi 

apartment buildings, and the setting of the amount of a cumulative contribution designated for the implementation 

of the projects of renovation (modernization) of multi apartment buildings and/or the maximum monthly amount 

of other payments. 

2. Resolution of the Government of the Republic of Lithuania of 1 July 2015 was supplemented with the provision 

that a contract on the construction contractor works may be signed only having received a written consent of a 

financial institution issuing loans to the funding of this contract. 

3. The Ministry of Environment of the Republic of Lithuania started preparing and planning the programme for 

increasing energy efficiency of blocks. Given the importance of the programme and the wish of the Ministry of 

Environment of the Republic of Lithuania to start the implementation of block renovation projects as soon as 

possible, VIPA assessed and prepared its proposals on the funding of projects for increasing energy efficiency of three 

pilot blocks (Utena, Šiauliai, Birštonas).  

3. Analysis of progress of project implementation, the course of pursuit of project objectives and indica-
tors  

The overall analysis of the course of pursuit of project objectives and information progress in the implementation of the 

Investment strategy and plan is presented below. The detailed information on the implementation of the project is 

presented in accordance with the form established in the European Commission’s implementing act  

The diagram below illustrates the course of the implementation of DNMF. The light green area illustrates the total 

value of the signed loan agreements for the modernization of multi apartment buildings. It is obvious that right after 

the establishment of the fund, this value increased very rapidly, thus the signing of agreements had to be suspended 

at the end of 2015, because this is when agreements for the total value of the fund already were signed. Thus only a 

few new agreements were signed in 2016, and the use of repaid funds was started to cover them. The diagram 

illustrates that all the planned contributions were made to the fund at the end of 2016, and almost all the funds were 

already paid out, while the value of the signed agreements exceeded the sum allocated for the fund. Tus activities of 

DNMF can be concluded to have developed rapidly and successfully, and the presented diagram allows stating that 

the fund will only increase in the future, thus searching for additional funds to supplement the fund would be 

expedient. 

Diagram 1 

 

Course of implementation of DNMF 
Contracted/ contributions to the fund/ paid out/ agreements/ CO2 t reduction/ households …pursued results 
(achievement, percent) 
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Diagram 1 also illustrates the rate of achievement of DNMF monitoring indicators. By its activities, DNMF pursues 

the following monitoring indicators: (1) the number of loans issued to renovated multi apartment buildings, (2) 

annual reduction of greenhouse gas emissions (t CO2), (3) number of households attributed to a higher energy 

efficiency class. It should be noted that the first results for the indicator of the number of loans are provided for in 

the Investment strategy in Q II of 2015, and for the other two indicators - Q II of 2016. 

The indicators are illustrated by curves, which correspond to the percentage of achievement of the indicator 

according to the right scale compared to the value provided for in the investment strategy each respective quarter. 

The fist indicator (the number of loan agreements) can be seen to be higher than (or equal to) the pursued result 

each quarter. Meanwhile, the achievement of other two indicators slightly falls behind the assumptions used in the 

investment strategy. This is because of the fact that the investment strategy planned for the completion of all the 

planned projects as soon as in Q II of 2016, i.e. that all the savings would already be achieved and all households 

would be attributed to a higher class. However, the practice has shown that for various reasons projects were 

implemented at different rates. Thus even though DNMF is implementing more projects than planned (and will 

implement even more of them in the future) and will achieve higher monitoring indicators, the achievement of the 

indicators as at the end of 2016 is slightly lower than planned in the investment strategy. This situation has formed 

as a result of the fact that in fact the implementation of a project of modernization of a multi apartment building and 

the capturing of its results often taken longer (especially when many projects are conducted in the market at a time), 

various administration procedures may be delayed, contractor-related obstacle may emerge, the seasonal nature 

may come as a problem, etc. 

In order to review the course of the achievement of monitoring indicators in greater detail, diagrams for each 

indicator individually are presented below. 

Diagram 2. 

 

Number of loans issued for renovation of multi apartment buildings 
Agreements/ plan according to IS 

 

As previously mentioned, the indicator of the number of loans increases the plan, while having received additional 

funding and with the increase of the amount of funds repaid to the fund, even more loan agreements will be signed, 

this circumstance will allow reaching and exceeding other indicators as well, because the more projects are 

implemented, the more households are attributed to a higher energy efficiency class and a greater reduction in 

greenhouse gas emissions is achieved. 
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Diagram 3. 

 

Number of households attributed to a higher energy efficiency class 
Households/ plan according to IS 

 

Diagram 3 illustrates the change in the number of households attributed to a higher energy efficiency class. As 

previously mentioned, the gap between the course provided for in the investment strategy and the actual situation 

has formed because of the assumption made in the investment strategy that all the planned 223 projects will be 

implemented in one year from the day of signing of the agreement. But it turned out that the start of the 

implementation of projects may sometimes be delayed, because of weather conditions, selection of contractors and 

for other reasons, thus the results of such projects are accounted for later than planned. For example, in the examined 

situation, only 154 projects were implemented by the end of 2016 out of 238 started projects. Thus when preparing 

investment strategies in the future, using a realistic rather than an optimistic scenario as a starting point would be 

useful. However, it can be seen that even having implemented fewer projects than planned, the value of the 

monitoring indicator was still achieved or even exceeded. This came as a result of the fact that the average number 

of apartments (households) of the buildings underdoing modernization is as many as 33 (compared to 22 forecasted 

in the investment strategy), thus buildings larger than planned were renovated. 

Diagram 4. 

 

Annual reduction of greenhouse gas emissionsCO2 t reduction/ plan according to IS 
 

Diagram 4 reflects annual reduction of greenhouse gas emissions into the environment. The achievement of this 

indicator is late for those same previously mentioned reasons. Even though 238 projects are under implementation 

(15 more than planned), only 154 of them were already completed and their results were captured (the plan was to 
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have 223 projects completed). Thus having completed all projects under implementation (excluding the potential 

new projects), this indicator will be achieved and even exceeded. It should also be noted that average CO2 savings 

(of 63t CO2) of one building planned in the investment strategy is very close to the actual average savings of one 

building (60t CO2)  observed till the end of 2016.  

Thus in summary of the examined situation, DNMF activities can be concluded to have been performed smoothly, 

and the financial instrument can be concluded to achieve and exceed the set monitoring indicator values having 

completed the started projects alone, while even more projects will be implemented and better results will be 

reached in the future, from returning funds (and potentially attracted private capital). 

1. Problems having arisen in the course of the implementation of the project and measures undertaken 
to resolve the problems  

All significant problems having emerged in the course of the implementation of the project and actions, which the project 

promoter took to resolve the problems  

Despite the fact that the implementation of DNMF was rapid and smooth, VIPA identified a few problems. These 

problems and methods for resolving them are listed below.  

1. Having signed an agreement on establishing and funding DNMF, the total DNMF amount was contracted by signed 
loan agreements before August 2015, but the flow of applications submitted with VIPA remained very high (in August 
2015, VIPA received project applications for EUR 207 million). The formed high flow of projects of modernization of 
multi apartment buildings and a large number of applications submitted with VIPA encouraged the initiation of an 
increase of DNMF contribution from EUR 30 million to EUR 74 million. Having increased the DNMF contribution, 
VIPA immediately resumed the signing of financing agreements. Having noticed that the demand for the DNMF fi-
nancial instruments was not decreasing, in 2016, VIPA initiated negotiations with international financial institutions 
for attracting private funds to the Fund. 
 
2. Pursuant to provisions of paragraph 66 of the Rules for Implementing Financial Instruments4, “the managing 

authority shall examine the first application for payment no later than within 30 days and the second and subsequent 

applications for payment - no later than within 70 days from the day of submission of a payment application. <…> 

Before approving each payment application, the managing authority shall check the project on site”. It should be 

noted that the procedure of on-site check till the actual payment of funds takes too long, and for this reason VIPA has 

insufficient funds to pay contractors for the works performed. It should be noted that in 2015, VIPA presented to the 

Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Lithuania four payment applications, with the first one being submitted on the 

14th of April, and three applications in 2016, with the last one being presented on the 14th of July. Thus in exactly 

fifteen months VIPA had submitted six applications for payment, and their value equalled the total fund amount. 

Figure 1 presents a more detailed illustration of the situation. 

Figure 1. 

 

Submission of PA 1/ Submission of PA 2/ Submission of PA 3/ Submission of PA 4/ Submission of PA 5/ 
Submission of PA 6/ Contribution 1/ Contribution 2/ Contribution 3/ Contribution 4/ Contribution 5/ 
Contribution 6 (year of selection)/ Average check - 48 days/ 289-day check out of 503 days (57%) 

Due to a long wait for contributions, payments to contractors are delayed, which results in major dissatisfactions of 

administrators and contractors in particular. It should be noted that delayed payments to contractors lead to a 

shortage of working capital, which in certain cases may even lead to contractor bankruptcy. Such situation harms 

reputation of VIPA and other institutions participating in the process of modernization of multi apartment buildings, 

and reduces confidence in them. In order to resolve this problem, selective check methodology was created, using 

                                                           
4 Rules for Implementing Financial Instruments approved by Order No. 1K-326 of the Minister of Finance of 16 
October 2014  
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which a statistically significant sample of projects to be checked is randomly selected. Unfortunately, the selective 

methodology was created solely for checking the last application for payment. 

3. Given that the demand for loans has not decreased, and VIPA has already signed agreements for a value greater 

than structural funds of the Fund, VIPA has actively searched for ways to attract additional funding. For this purpose, 

VIPA examined possibilities for borrowing funds for the Fund from the European Bank for Reconstruction and 

Development (EBRD), and reached a preliminary agreement with the private investor. However, in the process of 

approval of the attraction of funds with DNMF Supervisory Committee, there were many difficulties and a need to 

change the DNMF establishment and financing agreement was identified, which turned out to be a very long and 

complicated process. Even though a preliminary agreement on the funding of DNMF was reached with EBRD in 

spring of 2016, the necessary amendments to the agreement on the establishment and financing of DNMF had not 

been done by the end of 2016, thus no additional funds were attracted to the Fund, and the stage of signing new loan 

agreements was not started. Even though a possibility to attract private funds is one of the largest advantages of 

financial instruments, and the managing authority has set the goals of attracting private capital, this situation showed 

that the actual implementation of contribution of private funds to the Fund is very complex, and in the absence of 

similar practice, there are very many uncertainties and doubts, and no clear procedure has been formed. Attractive 

private capital is expected to become simpler later on, having attracted ENRD funds and acquired respective 

experience. 

2. Planned project implementation progress till the submission of the following annual report  

Description of plans for the implementation of the project of the following year  

In 2017, VIPA will mainly focus on the following:  

1. Attracting private funds and signing new loan agreements; 
2. Collecting repaid funds and their use in funding new projects; 
3. Recoveries from residents late in repaying contributions; 
4. DNMF management and control, and the provision of results and reports in the implementation of the invest-

ment strategy and provisions of the financing agreement; 
5. Further project administration, including the acceptance and evaluation of applications, project selection, mon-

itoring of implementation and assurance of eligibility of expenses.  
 

3. Publicity and information 

Description of measures, which the project executor and/or the project executor together with a third party undertook 

to ensure proper publicity and information of the project under implementation. Description of the implemented 

publicity measures, also presenting best practice examples    

VIPA has taken all necessary measures to inform the public about DNMF (financial instrument) and the conducted 

activities, as provided for in Annex XII to Regulation No. 1303/2013: 

1. The public and the selected target groups were informed in various media channels that the project under 

implementation was co-financed from EU Structural Funds; 

2. Measures of informing about the project implemented by VIPA used EU 2014-2020 structural support mark, also 

presenting a link to the EU structural fund, the funds wherefrom where used to co-finance DNMF; 

3. A list of renovated buildings is available on VIPA website, also publishing information on the implementation of 

DNMF, loan terms and conditions, submission of applications and other information useful to project executors, 

providing a list of related documents and legislation, data for payments, etc. 

http://vipa.lt/puslapis/paskolos_salygos  

4. Information about the monitoring of the implementation of the project  

Information about audit activities, conducted on-site checks, identified violations and other information related to the 

monitoring of implementation is presented below  

Pursuant to provisions of paragraph 6.2 of the contract on the establishment and financing of DNMF financed by the 

European Regional Development Fund No. 1S/18/BS-2015-3/2015/19-11 of 27 March 2015, agreement No. 1 of 14 

September 2015 on amendments to the contract of the establishment and financing of the Multi Apartment Building 

http://vipa.lt/puslapis/paskolos_salygos


Private limited liability company 
Public Investment Development Agency 

Legal entity code 303039520 
Headquarters address Lukiškių g. 2, LT-01512, Vilnius 

 

30 

 

Modernization Fund financed by the European Regional Development Fund No. 1S-18/BS-2015-3/2015/19-11 and 

paragraphs 62 and 63 of the Rules for Implementing Financial Instruments, VIPA submitted to the Ministry of 

Finance of the Republic of Lithuania and the Ministry of Environment of the Republic of Lithuania four DNMF 

payment applications and updated payment application submission schedules during 2015, and two DNMF payment 

applications and one updated payment application submission schedule in 2016 ( the schedule was not provided 

with the last payment application). 

1. Pursuant to paragraph 66 of the Rules for Implementing Financial Instruments, on 23 April 2015, the Ministry of 

Finance conducted the first project on-site check. A recommendation to supplement Chapter V of the Procedure 

“General project requirements” was formed during the check, considering the special selection criterion of the 

measure No. 04.3.1-FM-F-001 “Renovation of multi apartment buildings” approved by minutes No. 44P-2(2) of the 

Supervisory Committee meeting of 11 December 2014, namely, that the project is aimed at increasing energy 

efficiency. This special selection criterion establishes that loans shall be disbursed for multi apartment building 

renovation projects that meet the following requirements: at least 80 percent of eligible multi apartment building 

renovation expenses shall comprise expenses for the implementation of measures increasing energy efficiency, 

which are laid down in Annex “Special technical requirements for multi apartment building renovation 

(modernization) projects” to the  Multi Apartment Building Renovation Programme. The recommendation was taken 

into account by adding paragraph 31.6 of the Description: “at least 80 percent of eligible multi apartment building 

renovation expenses shall comprise expenses for the implementation of measures increasing energy efficiency that 

are laid down in the Annex “Special requirements for multi apartment building renovation (modernization) projects” 

to the Multi Apartment Building Renovation Programme”.  

2. The second on-site check was performed by the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Lithuania during the period 

from 6 August 2015 to 12 August 2015. Observations made during the check were presented to VIPA by letter No. 

(24.41-03)-5K-1515117-6K-1506366 of the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Lithuania of 28 August 2015. The 

recommendations to provide for the procedures of inspection of public procurement documents in internal 

procedures of VIPA in order to ensure the compliance with the requirements of Regulation (EU) No. 1303/2013  and 

the Rules were made.  

   

3. The third on-site check was performed by the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Lithuania during the period 

from 12 October 2015 to 19 October 2015. Immaterial errors of editorial or technical nature that have no impact on 

the eligibility of expenses were found during the check. VIPA committed to ensuring appropriate completion of 

document particulars in the future.  

  

1.4 4. The fourth on-site check was performed by the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Lithuania during the period 
from 14 December 2015 to 18 December 2015. Discrepancies captured during the check had no impact on the eligi-
bility of expenses. The recommendation related to the preparation of appropriate procedures for monitoring the 
compliance with procurement rules was repeated.  The recommendation was taken into consideration having ap-
proved the selective VIPA procurement inspection procedure No. 2015/9-48 approved by Order of the Managing 
Director of VIPA of 17 December 2015. 

1.5  
1.6 5. The fifth on-site check was performed by the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Lithuania on 25-26 of April of 

2016. The check was performed having selected 44 projects according to the set selection methodology. No violations 
were found. 
 

6. The sixth on-site check was performed by the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Lithuania on 11-12 August 

2016. The inspection was conducted having selected 30 projects according to the set selection methodology. No 

violations were found. 

Pursuant to the Rules for Implementing Financial Instruments and the contract on the establishment and financing 

of DNMF, VIPA periodically submitted reports on the implementation of ENEF. 
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1. Description of the implemented project 

Description of the project and procedure of its implementation 

The aim of the Energy Efficiency Fund financed by the European Regional Development Fund (ENEF) is to promote 

the increase of energy efficiency by investing in the public infrastructure. The fund was established pursuant to the 

contract on the establishment and financing of ENEF No. 1S-12/2015/19-10/8-5 of 18 February 2015. The ENEF 

was established as a fund of funds for the amount of EUR 79.65; two financial instruments are implemented in its 

scope: 

1) financial instrument of loans for disbursing loans for funding projects of modernization of central gov-

ernment buildings. EUR 65.16 million of funds from the fund of funds was allocated for the financial instru-

ment (hereinafter - Loans financial instrument). 

 2) Guarantee financial instrument designed for guaranteeing the payments of promoters of projects of 

modernization of street lighting of cities to project funders. EUR 14.49 million of funds from the fund of funds was 

allocated for the financial instrument (hereinafter - Guarantee financial instrument). 
 

In the implementation of these financial instruments, energy saving service provision (ESCO) companies, entities of 

central government (that are entitled to borrow) and municipalities are provided with opportunities to implement 

projects for increasing energy efficiency taking advantage of the provided funding. Also, the aim is to encourage ES-

COs operating in the private sector to implement projects for increasing energy consumption efficiency in the public 

sector and to develop this market in Lithuania. These financial instruments also contribute to the implementation of 

the goals provided for in the Directive 2012/27/EU on energy efficiency. 
 

Loans financial instrument. In the implementation of the Loans financial instrument VIPA acts as the manager of both 

the fund of funds and the financial instrument. Funding for the modernization of central government buildings is 

provided in the implementation of the Programme for Increasing Energy Efficiency of Public Buildings approved by 

Resolution No. 1328 of the Government of the Republic of Lithuania of 26 November 2014. Projects for the 

modernization of central government buildings are subject to the following requirements:  

1) The implemented project must comply with the provisions of the National Energy Independence Strategy and, 
where applicable, provisions of the programme for Increasing Energy Efficiency of Public Buildings; 

2) According to the Programme  for Increasing Energy Efficiency of Public Buildings: 
a) the building’s energy efficiency class must be D or lower; 

b) the building renovation project must be aimed at reaching energy efficiency class of the building of C at 

the least; 

 c) the plan is to reduce final energy costs in the renovated building by at least 30 percent. 

The financial instrument is also aimed at providing a possibility and encouraging ESCOs operating in the private 

sector to take part in the implementation of energy efficiency projects in the sector of modernization of public 

buildings. Free of charge consultations and assistance from specialists of respective areas are provided to managers 

of public buildings and potential ESCO market participants. In 2014, the European Bank for Reconstruction and 

Development (EBRD) and VIPA started implementing the project “Support for the development of ESCO market in 

Lithuania: preparation of standardized sample documents and promotion of procurement of ESCO for energy 

efficiency projects in Lithuania”. Three pilot projects are currently under implementation within the scope of the 

project: first public procurement procedures for ETPT services are being held for the modernization of three police 

headquarters buildings.  

Guarantee financial instrument. In the implementation of the Guarantee financial instrument, VIPA acts as the 

manager of both the fund of funds and the financial instrument. Projects of the modernization of street lighting are 

subject to the following requirements: 

1) The project implemented by end beneficiaries shall meet provisions of the National Energy Independence 
Strategy approved by Resolution No. XI-2133 of the Seimas of the Republic of Lithuania “Regarding the Ap-
proval of the National Energy Independence Strategy” of 26 June 2012; 

2) The project of the modernization of street lighting of the city implemented by the end beneficiary shall save 
at least 40% of electricity per year. 

http://www.vipa.lt/puslapis/garantijos
http://www.vipa.lt/puslapis/garantijos
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2. Systematic changes that affected project implementation (where applicable)  

2.4 A list of heated and/or cooled state authorities and institutions owned by the state - buildings used by public 
administration entities eligible for renovation selected for renovation in 2015 was approved by Order No. 1-11 of the 
Minister of Energy of the Republic of Lithuania “On the approval of the list of heated and/or cooled state authorities 
and institutions owned by the state - buildings used by public administration entities eligible for renovation selected 
for renovation in 2015 (a brief list)” of 19 April 2015. 
2.5 By paragraph 21 of its resolution No. 44P-4.1. (6) of the meeting of 19 May 2015, the Supervisory Committee 
of the Acton Programme refused the specific project selection criterion applicable to projects of modernization of city 
street lighting “the end beneficiary shall implement the project in the cities: by 31 December 2015 - in the cities of 
Vilnius, Kaunas, Klaipėda, Šiauliai or Panevėžys, and since 1 January 2016 - in one of the mentioned or a different city 
of the Republic of Lithuania” established in task 4.3.1 “To reduce energy consumption in public infrastructure and 
multi-apartment buildings” of the measure No. 04.3.1-FM-F-105 “Increasing energy efficiency in public infrastructure” 
under the 4th priority “Promoting energy efficiency and the production and use of energy from renewable energy 
sources”;  
2.6 On 7 July 2015, Eurostat issued the guidelines for the impact of contracts of energy saving services (ESC), which 
established that generally, with the public sector implementing investments, investments made on the basis of ESC 
contracts and the resulting liabilities should be included in the public sector’s balance (and debt).  
2.7 On 10 August 2015, the EC approved the guidelines on combining financial instruments with other forms of 
support. 
2.8 Typical ESCO model documents, which must be observed by entities willing to receive ENER funding were ap-
proved by Order No. 1-221 of the Minister of Energy of the Republic of Lithuania of 23 September 2015.  
2.9 On 16 November 2015, EC explanation of methods of application of loan interest subsidies was received. This 
document explained that a mechanism other than provided for in the final energy efficiency ex-ante evaluation report 
should be used for funding expenses of preparation of technical documentation. 
2.10 Programme for Increasing Energy Efficiency of Public Buildings was approved by Resolution No. 1328 of the 
Government of the Republic of Lithuania of 26 November 2014 and amended by Resolution No. 1209 of the Govern-
ment of the Republic of Lithuania of 18 November 2015. The list of heated and/or cooled state authorities and insti-
tutions owned by the state - buildings used by public administration entities eligible for renovation selected for reno-
vation in 2016 was approved by Order No. 1-295 of the Minister of Energy of the Republic of Lithuania of 17 December 
2015 “On the Approval of the List of Buildings Eligible for Renovation in 2016”. 
2.11 On 29 August 2016, amendments to ex-ante evaluation were introduced in the meeting of the Supervisory Com-
mittee for the Assessment of Projects of Public Infrastructure and Energy Efficiency of 29 August 2016, which were 
approved by minutes of the meeting No. 11 (24.41-03). The need for amendments was determined by the previously 
listed amendments and the presented explanations. 
2.12 On 12 December 2016, the explanation of the Ministry of Energy of the Republic of Lithuania on public central 
government buildings that do not have accurate metering of energy used for heating the building was received.  

3. Analysis of progress of project implementation, course of pursuit of project objectives and indicators  

Loans financial instrument. 

Chronology of actions related to the implementation of the loans financial instrument 

1. The Energy Efficiency Fund was established by a tripartite agreement signed by the Ministry of Finance of the 
Republic of Lithuania, the Ministry of Energy of the Republic of Lithuania and VIPA on 18 February 2015. 
2. Description of the procedure of the Disbursement of Loans for the Renovation of Public Central Government 
Buildings by Increasing Energy Efficiency (hereinafter - CVVP Description) was approved on 22 May 2015. 
3. On 16 July 2015, the first interim payment of EUR 19 006 313.75 to ENEF was received from the Ministry of 
Finance of the Republic of Lithuania 
4. In December of 2015, VIPA approved funding for three pilot ESCO projects. 
5. Recommendatory documents for the procurement of an energy consumption audit service (templates of the con-
tract and the technical task) designed for building managers were prepared in September of 2016. 
6. In December of 2016, explanation of the Ministry of Energy of the Republic of Lithuania on public central gov-
ernment buildings that do not have accurate metering of energy used for heating the building was received. 
7. In order to facilitate the receipt of loans and shorten the procedure for the submission of documents for central 
government buildings, VIPA is implementing ELENA (European Local Energy Assistance) projects at its own expense. 
• In September of 2015, a package of typical ESCO documents for projects of the modernization of central govern-

ment buildings was prepared. 
• Technical specifications for the procurement of services for projects of the modernization of three selected pilot 

buildings (police headquarters buildings) by way of ESCO were prepared in November 2015. The prepara-
tion of the remaining procurement documentation was started, but the beginning of the procurement had 
to be postponed till March 2016 due to the reorganization carried out by the police. 
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• Public procurement procedures for the three pilot projects were announced in March - April 2016. The plan was 
to have service contracts signed in July, and loan agreements - in mid- August. 

• In September 2016, qualification selection of suppliers was completed, and they were invited for negotiations. As 
a result, the plan for signing agreements was postponed to December. 

• In 2016, envelopes with tenders (two tenders for each building) were opened up and it turned out that the offered 
prices significantly exceeded the loan amounts indicated in letters of commitment of VIPA. 

• In December 2016, discussion of the further situation on the received tenders was held in participation of stake-
holders. VIPA stated that investment prices provided for in energy consumption audits were by about twice 
lower than prices indicated in the price list of construction resources compiled by UAB Sistela, while in-
vestment prices indicated in the tenders were about 30-60 percent greater than those indicated in the said 
price list. Given the procurement conditions, tenders should be rejected due to the excessive price only after 
holding negotiations and if no acceptable price offer was received. 

• Negotiations, analysis of typical documents and tenders are continued, the need to change documents, to simplify 
requirements, etc. is being refined. Shortcomings in typical documents are being identified and ways are 
searched to eliminate them. 

Review of results. 

86 energy consumption audits were performed by the end of 2016, of which 64 received final evaluations. 55 

applications were received, of which 23 were approved and 8 were still under evaluation. 

Table1  

Applications Number Sum, EUR 

Number of applications, of which: 55 46 726 326,55 

Rejected 24 31 651 331,40 

Unver evaluation 8 5 800 529,60 

Evaluated 23 9 274 465,55 

 

It should be noted that as many as 23 applications received a positive evaluation, and procurements of energy saving 

services could be started, but in the absence of good practice examples (procurements for pilot projects have not 

been completed)   applicants delay the start of the implementation of the projects. Meanwhile, procurement 

procedures of energy saving services of pilot projects face difficulties, thus the implementation of the loans financial 

instrument cannot be started. 

It should also be noted that some projects are not suitable for ESCO model, because they do not have separate energy 

consumption/ heat meters. For this reason 5 applications were rejected. 

Procedure for public procurement of energy saving services of pilot projects performed in 2016 was not 

implemented successfully and revealed certain shortcomings: 

- service providers do not find the long project payback period attractive; 
- very stringent qualification requirements for potential service providers limit competition and their wish to 

take part in procurement procedures; 
- inclusion of many additional activities, which are not energy efficiency measures, into the project inflate the 

total price of the project and has an adverse effect on the calculation of payback of investments. 
 

Considering the identified deficiencies, VIPA has changed typical procurement documents in order not to restrict 

supply, to promote competition between suppliers and to reduce the administrative burden falling on participants 

in the procurement procedure, thus hoping to attract more potential service providers. Also, in order to reduce the 

total project value, applicants will be encouraged to include in project activities solely the necessary works, giving 

priority to energy efficiency measures. VIPA has also searched for ways to shorten the period of payback of project 

investments. 

 In the assessment of the complexity and length of the public procurement process and in pursuit of the fastest 

possible implementation of projects, VIPA has also cooperated with SE Turto Bankas in order to create conditions 
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for direct borrowing for projects of the modernization of buildings without applying the ESCO model. The plan is to 

have the first loans issued in 2017. 

Thus the key result of 2016 can be concluded to be the performance of the actual inspection of the public 

procurement procedure for energy saving services, the passing of all stages and identification of specific 

shortcomings. Knowing the weak spots, measures to rectify them and to make the process of procurement of energy 

saving services more efficient and clear will be taken. This is when the implementation of other approved projects 

would also start. Moreover, it should be noted that successful implementation of practice of such procurements in 

Lithuania is a very important aspect for the entire market of ESCO and projects for increasing energy efficiency and 

outside the limits of ENEF, which creates a possibility to attract more and more private funds to the private sector in 

the future. 

Guarantee financial instrument 

Chronology of actions related to the implementation of the Guarantee financial instrument: 

1. The Energy Efficiency Fund was established by a tripartite agreement signed by the Ministry of Finance of 

the Republic of Lithuania, the Ministry of Energy of the Republic of Lithuania and VIPA on 18 February 2015. 

Description of the Procedure of the Provision of Guarantees for Projects of the Modernization of City Lighting 

(hereinafter - Guarantee Description) was approved on 22 May 2015.  

2. On 16 July 2015, the first interim payment of EUR 19 006 313.75 to ENEF was received from the Ministry of 

Finance of the Republic of Lithuania.  

3. In December 2015, conditional letter of commitment to issue a guarantee (hereinafter - letter of guarantee) 

was issued to Jonava district municipality, the validity whereof was extended in December 2016 for one 

more year.  

4. In September 2016, a letter of guarantee was issued to Šilutė district municipality.  

5. In November 2016, application of Telšiai district municipality for the issuance of a letter of guarantee was 

received. 

Review of the results 

By the end of 2016, three applications for the modernization of street lighting networks were received. Two projects 

were issued letters of guarantee, while the third was still under assessment at the end of the year. But data collected 

from the application can already be summarized. 

 The following project results are planned in the applications: 

Table 2 

 average Total 

Renovated lamps, units 
 

1.885 
 

5.656 

Saved electricity, kWh/y 
 

492.655 
 

1.477.964 

CO2 reduction, t 
 

278 
 

835 

 

The average estimated share of achieved savings accounts for 61%, when the minimum requirement for projects is 

40%. The planned results of these three projects would reach 5 and 8 percent of P.B.232 and P.B.234 indicators 

specified in PIP, respectively. It should be noted that both the loans financial instruments and guarantee financial 

instruments seek for these indicators together. Moreover, the following flow of the guarantee financial instrument is 

planned at the end of 2016, thus new projects are expected: 

Table 3 

Number of projects assessed in unofficial approval procedure  5 

Prepared IP, decisions on the method of project implementation are being made/ 

application is being drawn up 

 

7 

Inventory procedure is carried out/ IP is prepared/procurement procedures are held 

 

6 
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A possibility to initiate a street lighting modernization project is considered  7 
 

The implementation of the projects that were issued a letter of guarantee in 2016 is planned borrowing directly and 

without contributing own funds. The following are financial data of applications: 

Table 4 

 Average Total Percentage 

share 

Loan amount, EUR 1.123.248,80 2.246.497,60 100% 

Guaranteed amount, EUR 561.624,40 
 

1.123.248,80 
 

50% 

Price of one lighting point, EUR 397,19 
 

  

Price of one saved kWh, EUR 1,52 
 

  

 

It should be noted that the progress of the implementation of the guarantee financial instrument is significantly 

limited by municipality borrowing limits. In the absence of a possibility for direct borrowing, ESCO model may be 

selected, however, as described before, this is a very complex process; moreover, unlike in case of the loans financial 

instrument, typical procurement documents have not been prepared for municipalities. 

Also, the attractiveness of the guarantee financial instrument is also limited by poor understanding of such financial 

instruments by stakeholders, lack of respective practice, etc. VIPA actively cooperates with potential applicants and 

commercial banks in order to present advantages of the financial instrument and, if necessary, to adapt the financial 

instrument to market needs. 

4. Problems having emerged in the course of the implementation of the project and measures that were 
taken to solve the problems 

Description of all significant problems having emerged in the course of the implementation of the project and measures 

that were taken to solve the problems 

Main problems related to the implementation of ENEF and VIPA actions taken to resolve the problems are listed 

below: 

1. Situation: projects of the modernization of city street lighting were subject to the project selection criterion “the 
end beneficiary shall implement the project in the cities: by 31 December 2015 - in the cities of Vilnius, Kaunas, 
Klaipėda, Šiauliai or Panevėžys, and since 1 January 2016 - in one of the mentioned or a different city of the Republic 
of Lithuania”. 
    Problem: the number of potential applicants was restricted. None of the major cities planned to prepare 

projects for the modernization of city street lighting in 2015 or 2016. Moreover, large cities require more time to 

prepare for the submission of the application than smaller cities, and it also turned out that smaller cities were more 

interested in the guarantee financial instrument. However, knowing that applications of smaller cities will not be 

accepted for some time, preparation for the projects was postponed in many places. That way the submission of 

applications was not started immediately after the creation of the financial instrument. 

    Solution: VIPA and the Ministry of Energy initiated the review of this selection criterion and by paragraph 21 of its 

resolution No. 44P-4.1. (6) of the meeting of 19 May 2015, the Supervisory Committee of the 2014-2020 European 

Union Fund Investment Action Programme waived this criterion.  

2. Situation: The word “City” in the description of calculation of supervision of indicators of the European Union 
Fund Investment Action Programme was understood as “compactly built-up residential areas that have more than 
3 000 residents, more than 2/3 of whom work in the industrial, business or production and social infrastructure 
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areas”5, and “Street” was understood as “a road or its separate section located in an urban or residential area, which 
usually has a name”6 . 
     Problem: the appeal of the financial instrument as a method for funding street lighting renovation was 

limited. Definitions of the city and the street used in the indicator calculation description do not meet the actual 

situation in the Lithuanian cities (in practice, city street lighting often extends to parks or other public places, and 

sometimes even crosses the boundaries of the city to settlements bordering the city, and the lighting of these 

settlements is controlled by the same municipality), and such a situation led to unreasonable need to artificially 

divide projects of the modernization of street lighting to several parts thus leading to additional administrative 

burden on applicants. 

     Solution: VIPA initiated amendments to the description that were approved in the beginning of 2016.  

3. Situation: Pursuant to EUROSTAT Guidelines for the Impact of Energy Performance Contracts on Government 
Accounts of August 2015, capital investments according to energy performance contracts are considered state ex-
penses increasing state debt. 
     Problem: in case of the loans financial instrument, the appeal and possibilities of implementation of the ESCO 

model are limited.  

     Solution: On 1 December 2016, representatives from the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Slovakia presented 

the initial offer to EUROSTAT’s working group to exclude these investments from the state debt based on the US 

experience. VIPA expressed its support to the offer made by Slovaks and informed them about its experience/ 

difficulties in the field. The final offer should be formulated by mid-2017. 

4. Situation: The Law on the Approval of the State Budget and Financial Indicators of Municipal Budgets of the Re-
public of Lithuania restricts the borrowing by municipalities.  
     Problem: This requirement limits the number of potential applicants, because pursuant to the law, the majority 

of municipalities may borrow very small amounts only.  

     Solutions: VIPA has offered excluding investments made in projects for increasing energy efficiency from the state 

debt calculated for the purposes of setting the borrowing indicator, because in such cases the loan may be repaid 

from the generated savings, and does not result in increased burden on municipal budget. Such proposal has not 

been implemented so far. 

5. Situation: When holding procurement procedures for ESCO services for the three pilot projects and having 
opened up envelopes containing tenders, it turned out that the offered prices are much higher than expected when 
conducting the analysis and the preparatory works. 
     Problem: the reason for the occurrence of the situation: market failure, unattractiveness of projects, complexity of 

documentation, etc. 

    Solution: the situation was analysed together with all stakeholders, consistently reviewing the entire course of the 

procurement procedure, typical documentation was prepared, and methods for simplifying the process and 

attracting more ESCOs to the procurement procedure were searched. 

5. Planned progress of the implementation of the project till the submission of the next annual report   

Description of project implementation plans of the following year  

In 2017, in the implementation of ENEF, the following areas received the greatest attention: 

- creation of an efficient ESCO service procurement process eliminating obstacles observed in the perfor-
mance of pilot projects in 2016. Successful performance of pilot projects is expected to encourage other 
approved projects to start building modernization; 

- agreement with SE Turto Bankas; loans for projects will be provided directly; 
- in order to speed up the implementation of projects of modernization of street lighting, active discussions 

with commercial banks will be held and other sources of funding will be pursued (for example, funds for 
loans, which would be guaranteed under the Guarantee financial instrument); 

- further assessment of energy consumption audits, applications for guarantee financial instruments and sign-
ing of contracts; 

- amendments to the contract on the establishment and financing of ENEF for it to meet the above-mentioned 
changes in regulation; 

                                                           
5 source: Law on Territorial Administrative Units and their Boundaries of the Republic of Lithuania 
6 source: Law on Roads of the Republic of Lithuania 
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- further active cooperation with potential applicants and other stakeholders. 
6. Publicity and information 

Description of measures, which the project implementer and/or the project implementer together with a third party 

undertook to ensure proper publicity and information of the project under implementation. Description of implemented 

publicity measures, also presenting best practice examples    

ENEF and guarantee financial instruments for the modernization of city street lighting and financial instruments of 

preferential loans disbursed therefrom for the modernization of public central government buildings were 

publicized noting that these measures are funded by EU Structural Funds in the following events held in Lithuania: 

• Conference on the modernization of street lighting held by the Lithuanian Association of Municipalities on 29-
06-2015 in Šiauliai. 

• Conference on the modernization of street lighting held by the Lithuanian Association of Municipalities on 30-
06-2015 in Ukmergė. 

• Conference “The Use of Energy Efficiency Fund for Renovating Municipal Buildings and Street Lighting” held by 
the Training and Counselling Centre in Vilnius on 01-07-2015. 

• In the event “Funding Renovation of Public Central Government Buildings” held on 19-06-2015 in Vilnius. 
• Conference on the subject of funding energy efficiency measures held by the Ministry of Environment of the Re-

public of Lithuania in Vilnius on 25-09-2015. 
• Conference “Partnership of Public and Private Sectors: Experience of Lithuania and Future Prospects” held by 

the Central Project Management Agency in Vilnius on 01-10-2015. 
• Conference on the subject of modernization of street lighting held by Philips in Vilnius on 19-11-2015. 
• Seminar “Modernization of Public Buildings in Observance of the energy service company (ESCO) model held in 

Vilnius on 28-01-2016. 

• Seminar held in Kruonis Pumped Storage Plant for municipalities on the modernization of street lighting on 07-
04-2016. 

• Event held on 09-05-2016 aimed at informing about funding renovation of state-owned public buildings.  
• Event held on 17-06-2016 aimed at informing about the preparation, evaluation and funding of complex projects 

“Challenges related to the Planning, Preparation and Assessment of Public Investment Projects in the 2014-2020 
Investment Period”. 

 

Also, ENEF and guarantee financial instruments for the modernization of city street lighting and financial 

instruments of preferential loans disbursed therefrom for the modernization of public central government buildings 

were publicized to foreign partners giving presentations in international events. 

Also, to increase the awareness of instruments provided by ENEF, they were presented to many parties related to 

the implementation and funding of projects funded under the instruments, including: 

• Individual municipalities that expressed interest in the implementation of ENEF funded projects. 
• Municipal companies having expressed interest in the implementation of ENEF funded projects. 
• Managers of public central government buildings. 
• Major commercial banks providing funding to municipalities. 
• Venture capital funds considering a possibility to invest in projects implemented by ESCO. 
• Consultants preparing investment projects for municipalities. 
• ESCOs, which will potentially implement the projects. 
• Construction works and contracting companies, which will potentially implement the projects. 
• Producers of street lighting equipment. 
• Individual ministries having expressed interest in the implementation of ENEF funded projects. 

 

Potential project applicants were also informed by e-mail about material events (such as approvals of funding 

descriptions) related to the implementation of financial instruments. Information on the course of implementation 

of the project was published on websites of the Ministry of Energy and VIPA. Specific information about frequently 

asked questions of applicants and compilers of investment projects was published on VIPA website under the 

frequently asked questions (FAQ) section. 

 In order to attract co-funding to ENEF, information about the fund and projects implemented therefrom was 

provided to Lithuanian and international institutional investors, including major banks of Lithuania, the European 

Investment Bank, the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development Bank, China Development Bank and 

others. Also, this information was published on VIPA website. 



Private limited liability company 
Public Investment Development Agency 

Legal entity code 303039520 
Headquarters address Lukiškių g. 2, LT-01512, Vilnius 

 

39 

 

 

7. Information on the monitoring of project implementation 

Information about audit activities, conducted on-site checks, identified violations and other information related to 

monitoring of implementation is presented below 

Before transferring the first interim payment to ENEF, an inspection of the compliance of the organization with 

requirements that fund managers are subject to was conducted on 25 May 2015. No recommendations were 

formulated during the inspection. 

It should be noted that not a single ENEF funded project was actually implemented in 2016. Thus no audit activities 

or on-site checks were conducted either. 

Pursuant to the Rules for Implementing Financial Instruments and the contract on the establishment and funding of 

ENEF, VIPA periodically presented reports on ENEF implementation. 
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Private Limited Liability Company Public Investment Development Agency 

Gedimino pr. 18 / Jogailos g. 2, LT-01103, Vilnius, Lithuania 

 

 

BALANCE SHEET 

 

31 December 2016 

01.01.2016-31.12.2016                                                                                                                                                            EUR 
(reporting period) 

Seq. 
No. 

Items Note No. 
 Financial 

year  
Previous fi-
nancial year 

  ASSETS       

A. NON-CURRENT ASSETS   28.455.548 29.183.667 

1. INTANGIBLE ASSETS  1 106.133 60.059 

 1.1. Development works       

 1.2. Goodwill       

 1.3. Software   42.411 53.262 

 1.4. Concessions, patents, licenses, trademarks and similar rights   63.722 6.797 

 1.5. Other intangible assets       

 1.6. Prepayments       

2. TANGIBLE ASSETS 2  74.392 76.222 

 2.1. Land       

 2.2. Buildings and infrastructure       

 2.3. Machinery and equipment   354 570 

 2.4. Vehicles       

 2.5. Other fixtures, fittings, tools and equipment   74.038 75.652 

 2.6. Investment assets   0 0 
  2.6.1. Land       

  2.6.2. Buildings        
 2.7. Prepayments and works of construction (production) of tangi-

ble assets in progress       

3. FINANCIAL ASSETS  3 28.275.023 29.047.386 

 3.1. Shares of companies of the Group       

 3.2. Loans to associates and subsidiaries       

 3.3. Amounts receivable from associates and subsidiaries       

 3.4. Shares of associates       

 3.5. Loans to associates        

 3.6. Amounts receivable from associates        

 3.7. Non-current investments       

 3.8. Amounts receivable after one year       

 3.9. Other financial assets 3  28.275.023 29.047.386 

4. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS   0 0 

 4.1. Deferred income tax assets       

 4.2. Biological assets       

 4.3. Other assets       

B. CURRENT ASSETS   10.173.569 11.916.498 
1. INVENTORIES   79.935 9.665 

 1.1. Raw materials and components 4  18.087 14 

 1.2. Work in progress       

 1.3. Finished products       

 1.4. Goods purchased for resale       

 1.5. Biological assets       
 1.6. Non-current tangible assets for sale       

 1.7. Prepayments 5  52.345 9.651 
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2. AMOUNTS RECEIVABLE WITHIN ONE YEAR   3.409.200 7.820.778 

 2.1. Trade debts        

 2.2. Debts of companies of the Group        

 2.3. Debts of associates       

 2.4. Other amounts receivable  6  3.409.200 7.820.778 

3. CURRENT INVESTMENTS   0 0 

 3.1. Shares of companies of the Group       

 3.2. Other investments        

4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  7 6.693.937 4.086.055 
C. DEFERRED COSTS AND ACCRUED INCOME    9.503   

  TOTAL ASSETS   38.638.620 41.100.165 

 
 
 

   

     

Seq. 
No. 

Items Note No. 
 Financial 

year  
Previous fi-
nancial year 

  EQUITY AND LIABILITIES       

D. EQUITY   3.097.947 873.096 

1. CAPITAL 8  2.001.136 101.360 

 1.1. Authorised (subscribed) or fixed capital   2.001.136 101.360 

 1.2. Subscribed and unpaid capital (–)       

 1.3. Own shares, premiums (–)       

2. SHARE PREMIUMS       

3. REVALUATION RESERVE       

4. RESERVES 9  200.115 10.137 

 4.1. Legal reserve   200.115 10.137 

 4.2. For acquiring own shares       

 4.3. Other reserves       

5. RETAINED EARNINGS (LOSS)   896.696 761.599 

 5.1. Profit (loss) for the reporting year  8 424.272 653.999 

 5.2. Profit (loss) for the previous year   472.424 107.600 

E. GRANTS AND SUBSIDIES       

F. PROVISIONS   16.291 16.291 

1. Provisions for pensions and similar liabilities       

2. Tax provisions       

3. Other provisions   16.291 16.291 

G. AMOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER LIABILITIES   35.524.382 40.210.778 
1. AMOUNTS PAYABLE AFTER ONE YEAR AND NON-CURRENT LI-

ABILITIES   33.864.316 37.344.538 

 1.1. Financial debts       

 1.2. Debts to credit institutions 11  33.864.316 37.344.538 

 1.3. Received prepayments       

 1.4. Trade debts       

 1.5. Amounts payable under bills and checks        

 1.6. Amounts payable to Group companies        

 1.7. Amounts payable to associates        

 1.8. Other amounts payable and non-current liabilities        
2. AMOUNTS PAYABLE WITHIN ONE YEAR AND OTHER NON-

CURRENT LIABILITIES 11 1.660.066 2.866.240 

 2.1. Financial debts       

 2.2. Debts to credit institutions   1.517.815 634.094 

 2.3. Received prepayments   85.283 2.023.533 
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 2.4. Trade payables   7.796 48.733 

 2.5. Amounts payable under bills and checks       

 2.6. Amounts payable to Group companies       

 2.7. Amounts payable to associates       

 2.8. Profit tax liabilities     116.893 

 2.9. Employment relations related liabilities   41.695 27.393 

 2.10. Other amounts payable and current liabilities    7.477 15.594 
H. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND DEFERRED INCOME    

   

  TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   38.638.620 41.100.165 
 

 

 

 

Managing Director     Gvidas Dargužas 

 

 

 

Chief Financial Officer     Raimonda Lauraitytė 
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Private Limited Liability Company Public Investment Development Agency 

Gedimino pr. 18 / Jogailos g. 2, LT-01103, Vilnius, Lithuania 

 
 

 

INCOME STATEMENT 

 

31 December 2016 

 

01.01.2016 - 31.12.2016 
(reporting period) 

 

Seq
. 

No. 

Items Note No. Financial year Previous fi-
nancial year 

1. Sales revenue  10 1.772.426  1.681.521  
2. Cost of sales 

10 (624.888) (568.473) 
3. Change in the fair value of biologic assets   

   
4. GROSS PROFIT (LOSS) 

 1.147.538  1.113.048  
5. Sales expenses 

    
6. General and administrative expenses 

10 (646.739) (342.039) 
7. Results of other activities 

10  (476)  
8. Revenue from investment in shares of parent com-

panies, subsidiaries and associates 
   

9. Revenue from other non-current investments and 
loans      

10. Other interest and similar revenues 
10             884.791              595.371  

11. Impairment of financial assets and other current in-
vestment       

12. Interest and similar expenses 

           (884.630) 
          

(595.540) 
13. PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAX 

           500.484              770.840  
14. Income tax 

             (76.212) 
          

(116.841) 

15. NET PROFIT (LOSS) 
  424.272              653.999  

 

 

 

 

 

Managing Director     Gvidas Dargužas 

 

 

 

Chief Financial Officer     Raimonda Lauraitytė 
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Private Limited Liability Company Public Investment Development Agency 

Gedimino pr. 18 / Jogailos g. 2, LT-01103, Vilnius, Lietuva 
 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

31 December 2016 

01.01.2016 – 13.12.2016 
 (reporting period) 

  Paid up 
authorised 

or fixed 
capital 

Share 
premiums 

Own 
shares 

(–) 

Revaluation reserve  Legal reserves Other 
reserves 

Retained 
earnings 

(loss) 

Total 

Noncurrent 
tangible 

assets 

Financial 
assets 

Legal re-
serve 

For ac-
quiring 

own 
shares 

1. Balance at the end of the 
reporting period before 
previous 

101.367               134.229  235.596  

2. Result of the change in the 
accounting policy 

                                   -    

3. Result of correction of material 
errors 

                                 -    

4. Recomputed balance at the 
end of the reporting period (an-
nual) before previous 

101.367                 -    
               

-    
               -                   -                   -                   -                 -    134.229  235.596  

5. Increase (decrease) in the  
value of the non-current  
tangible assets 

                                      -    

6. Increase (decrease) in the value 
of effective hedging instrument 

                             -    

7. Acquisition (disposal) of own 
shares 

                             -    

8. Profit /loss not recognised in 
the income statement 

 (7)                 (7) 

9. Net profit /loss of the reporting 
period 

                653.999  653.999  

10. Dividends                 (16.492)  (16.492) 

11. Other payments                                  -    

12. Reserves formed           10.137      (10.137)               -    

13. Used reserves                                  -    
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14. Increase (decrease) of the 
authorised capital or sharers’ con-
tributions (return of shares) 

                                      -    

15. Other increase (decrease) in 
authorized or fixed capital  

                     -    

16. Contributions to cover losses                                     -    

17. Balance at the end of the 
previous financial year 

101.360  -    -    -    -    10.137  -                 -    761.599  873.096  

18. Increase (decrease) in the 
value of non-current tangible as-
sets 

                                  -    

19. Increase (decrease) in the 
value of effective hedging instru-
ment 

                                   -    

20. Acquisition (sale) of own 
shares 

                                  -    

21. Profit /loss not recognised in 
the income statement) 

                                 -    

22. Net profit /loss of the 
reporting period 

                        424.272  424.272  

23. Dividends                         (61.117)  (61.117) 

24. Other payments                         (38.080)  (38.080) 

25. Reserves formed           189.978      
      

(189.978) 
              -    

26. Used reserves                                  -    

27. Increase (decrease) of the 
authorised capital or sharers’ con-
tributions (return of shares) 

1.899.776                  1.899.776  

28. Other increase (decrease) in 
authorized or fixed capital 

                                 -    

29. Contributions to cover losses                                -    

30. Balance at the end of the 
reporting financial year 

2.001.136                 -    
               

-    
               -                   -    200.115                 -                 -    896.696  3.097.947  

 

 

Managing Director        Gvidas Dargužas  

 

Chief Financial Officer        Raimonda Lauraitytė 
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Private Limited Liability Company Public Investment Development Agency 

 

Gedimino pr. 18 / Jogailos g. 2, LT-01103, Vilnius, Lietuva 

 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

 

31 December 2016 

01.01.2016-31.12.2016 
(reporting period) 

Seq. 
No. 

Articles 
Note 
No. 

Financial 
year 

Previous finan-
cial year 

1. Cash flows from operating activities       

1.1. Net profit (loss)   424.272   653.999  

1.2. Depreciation and amortization expenses    73.880         49.322  

1.3. Elimination of the results of the transfer of 
non-current intangible and tangible assets 

      

1.4. Elimination of results of financial and 
investment activities 

                (7) 

1.5. Elimination of other non-monetary transactions       

1.6. Increase (decrease) in amounts receivable from 
companies of the Group and associates 

      

1.7. Increase (decrease) in other amounts receivable in 
one year 

  772.363  (20 192.998) 

1.8. Increase (decrease) in deferred income tax assets       

1.9. Increase (decrease) in inventories, except for made 
prepayments  

  (18.073)            11  

1.10. Increase (decrease) in made prepayments   (52.197)     (7.195) 

1.11. Increase (decrease) in trade debts       

1.12. Increase (decrease) in debts of Group companies 
and associates  

      

1.13. Increase (decrease) in other amounts receivable   4.411.578  (7.465.115) 

1.14. Increase (decrease) in current investment       

1.15. Increase (decrease) in deferred costs and accrued 
income 

      

1.16. Increase (decrease) in provisions              (20) 

1.17. Increase (decrease) in non-current trade payables 
and received prepayments 

  (3.480.222)  9.613.333  

1.18. Increase (decrease) in amounts payable after one 
year under bills and checks 

      

1.19. Increase (decrease) in non-current debts to Group 
companies and associates 

      

1.20. Increase (decrease) in current trade payables and 
received prepayments 

      
(1.095.466) 

           565.164  

1.21. Increase (decrease) in amounts payable within one 
year under bills and checks 

      

1.22. Increase (decrease) in current debts to Group com-
panies and associates 

      

1.23. Increase (decrease) in income tax liabilities     (116.893)             89.493  

1.24. Increase (decrease) in employment relations re-
lated liabilities 

        14.302             5.942  

1.25. Increase (decrease) in other amounts payable and 
liabilities 

          (8.117)           10.698  

1.26. Increase (decrease) in accrued expenses and  
Deferred income  

      

  Net cash flows from operating activities     925.427  (16.677.373) 
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2. Cash flows from investment activities       

2.1. Acquisition of non-current assets (except 
investment) 

  (119.336)          (92.958) 

2.2. Disposal of non-current assets (except 
investment 

      

2.3. Acquisition of non-current investment       

2.4. Disposal of non-current investment       

2.5. Disbursement of loans       

2.6. Redemption of loans       

2.7. Dividends and interest received       

2.8. Other increases in cash flows from 
investment activities 

      

2.9. Other decreases in cash flows from 
investment activities 

      

  Net cash flows from investment activities   (119.336) (92.958) 

3. Cash flows from financial activities       

3.1. Cash flows related to owners of the entity   1.838.659       (16.492) 

3.1.1. Issue of shares   1.899.776    

3.1.2. Contributions of the owners to cover losses       

3.1.3. Redemption of own shares       

3.1.4. Payment of dividends    (61.117)       (16.492) 

3.2. Cash flows related to other sources of financing    (36.868)                               

3.2.1. Increase in financial debts     

3.2.1.1. Loans received       

3.2.1.2. Issue of bonds       

3.2.2. Decrease in financial debts     

3.2.2.1. Repayment of loans       

3.2.2.2. Redemption of bonds       

3.2.2.3. Interest paid       

3.2.2.4. Payments of leasing (financial lease)       

3.2.3. Increase in other liabilities of the company       

3.2.4. Decrease in other liabilities of the company   (36.868)   

3.2.5. Other increases in cash flows from financial 
activities 

      

3.2.6. Other decreases in cash flows from 
financial activities 

      

  Net cash flows from financial activities    1.801.791              (16.492) 

4. Effect of changes in exchange rates on 
the balance of cash and cash equivalents 

      

5. Net increase (decrease) in cash flows   2.607.882     (16.786.823) 

6. Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the period 

     4.086.055   20.872.878  

7. Cash and cash equivalents at the 
end of the period 

   6.693.937      4.086.055  

 

Managing Director     Gvidas Dargužas 

 

 

 

Chief Financial Officer    Raimonda Lauraitytė 
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EXPLANATORY NOTES TO THE SET OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR 2016 

 

GENERAL PART 

 

Private Limited Liability Company Public Investment Development Agency (hereinafter – VIPA) is a legal 
person of limited civil liability registered in the Register of Legal Entities on 11 April 2013, company code 
303039520, registered office address – Lukiškių St. 2, Vilnius, Lithuania, place of operation – Gedimino Av. 18 / 
Jogailos St. 2, Vilnius. 

The Company is engaged in the following economic activities: provision of financial services, 
administration and implementation of financial instruments intended for the modernization of the public 
infrastructure and public services. 

In the implementation of its activities, VIPA implements a number of financial instruments by 
participating in them as a financial intermediary, administers the financial services provided using the funds, i.e. 
grants loans to the implementers of public infrastructure of cities and energy efficiency improvement projects, 
carries out supervision over evaluations, selection and the implementation of the public sector projects funded 
by financial instruments, submits information and proposals for drafting or improving legal acts governing 
financial instruments, by implementing financial instruments, also attracts private sector investment to the 
public sector; promotes financial instruments, provides technical and methodological support in developing 
financial instrument projects, provides information and proposals in relation to drawing up and/or improving 
legal acts governing financial instruments, in addition to the other activities provided in the Company's articles 
of association. 

The Head of Administration of VIPA is its Managing Director Gvidas Dargužas holding the post since 2 
May 2013. 

As at 31 December 2016, the Company had 38 employees (of which 3 were on maternity leave), and the 
average number of the employees in the Company was 35. 

The balance sheet, income statement, cash flow statement, statement on changes in equity and 
explanatory notes to the financial statements presents the data in summary numbers rounded to the euro. 

VIPA has no branches or representative offices. 
The Company did not conduct any research or development activities. 
 

LEGAL BASIS OF VIPA ACTIVITIES 

 

The legal basis of the activities of VIPA is defined in Order No. 1K-259 of the Minister of Finance of the 
Republic of Lithuania of 8 February 2013 approving the Articles of Association of the Private Limited Liability 
Company Public Investment Development Agency (together with the amendment of Order No. 1K-180 of 20 May 
2015 of the Minister of Finance of the Republic of Lithuania and Order No. 1K-88 of 17 March 2016 of the Minister 
of Finance of the Republic of Lithuania). 

In 2016, the authorised capital of VIPA was increased from EUR 101 360 to EUR 2 001 136 by issuing 
65 600 uncertificated registered ordinary shares, each of EUR 28.96 in nominal value, with the total nominal 
value being EUR 1 899 776. The price of issue of the shares is equal to their nominal value. The authorized capital 
of VIPA is divided to 69 100 ordinary registered shares. As at 31 December 2016, all shares of the company were 
fully paid up. As at 31 December 2016, VIPA had not acquired any own shares. 100 % of VIPA's shares are owned 
by the state whose owner’s property rights are implemented by the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of 
Lithuania. 

The objective of the activities of VIPA as defined in the Articles of Association is the pursuit of profit, by 
implementing and administering financial instruments intended for public sector investment for the 
modernization of the public infrastructure and public services, and by providing financial services related to 
these financial instruments 

 

ACCOUNTING POLICY 

 

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES 

 

VIPA accounts are kept following the provisions of the Law on Accounting of the Republic of Lithuania, 

Business Accounting Standards and other legal acts governing accounting in the Republic of Lithuania. The ac-

counts of the Company are kept following the principles of accrual, prudence, comparability, going concern, sub-

stance over form and other accounting principles. 

VIPA financial year coincides with the calendar year. 
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The accounts of the Company are kept and the financial statements are drawn up and presented in euro. 

 

NON-CURRENT TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 

Tangible and intangible assets, the cost of acquisition whereof is below EUR 290, irrespective of the time 
of their use, are expensed having started to use such assets. The minimum acquisition cost is common for all 
groups of intangible assets. 

Intangible assets of VIPA consist of software and licences. Intangible assets are accounted for at 
acquisition value less the accrued amortisation and the impairment loss, if any. Intangible assets are amortised 
within their useful life, applying the linear amortization calculation method; the useful life of intangible assets is 
three years. 

Expenses related to maintaining economic benefit of intangible assets are recognised as costs of the 
period in which the repair or maintenance services are provided. 

Tangible assets of VIPA as at the date of financial statements consist of hardware and office equipment, 
and furniture, the cost of acquisition of which is more than EUR 290. Tangible assets are accounted for at their 
acquisition value less the accrued amortisation and the impairment loss, if any. Non-current tangible assets are 
depreciated throughout the useful life of the assets, by applying a linear method of depreciation. The useful life 
(in years) for different tangible assets groups is established in accordance with the provisions of the Law on 
Income Tax of the Republic of Lithuania of 20 December 2001, and approved by Order of the Managing Director 
of Private Limited Liability Company Public Investment Development Agency. The useful life of computer 
hardware and communications equipment is three years, vehicles and equipment – 5 years, furniture – 6 years. 
 

ACCOUNTING OF RECEIVABLES 
 

Amounts receivable are accounted for at their fair value. They are recognised as current assets, except 
the amounts receivable the repayment term whereof is longer than 12 months from the balance sheet date. 
Amounts receivable are attributed to non-current financial assets. 

At initial recognition, any acquired non-current financial assets are registered at cost of acquisition. 
 

INVENTORIES ACCOUNTING 
 

Inventories are recorded in the accounting at acquisition cost. The cost of inventories consists of the 
purchase price, transportation expenses and other expenses directly related to their acquisition. Inventories are 
accounted for applying FIFO method. 

 

TAXES 

 

VIPA calculates taxes and other payments to the state budget and funds, and pays the funds due in the 
manner set forth in the Law on Tax Administration and other laws of the Republic of Lithuania. 

In 2016, with respect to its operations, VIPA had to pay contributions to the guarantee fund (0.2 % of 
the calculated salary), the social insurance contributions payable by the employer (30.98% of the estimated wage 
for employees), deduct and pay the income tax of residents (15 % of the calculated salary of employees less the 
tax free income), deduct and pay the mandatory retirement and health insurance contributions (9 %/10 % of 
the salary calculated for employees). 

 

INCOME TAX 

 

Acting in accordance with the Law on Income Tax of the Republic of Lithuania, the taxable profit of the 
Company is subject to a 15% income tax. 

The deferred income tax assets are the assets that are expected to be recovered in the future periods. 
Deferred income tax assets are netted with income tax liabilities in the future periods. 

 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 

VIPA's cash assets consist of cash held in the Company's bank accounts. The statement of cash flows is 
compiled in an indirect method when the net profit (loss) of the reporting period is recalculated into the amount 
of cash received or expended in relation to the operating activities of the Company during the reporting period. 

The cash held in the bank accounts of VIPA and used thereby for the purpose of implementing the multi 
apartment building renovation (modernization) programmes, and the programmes for the renovation 
(modernization) of dormitories of schools of higher education and vocational training institutions, funded by the 
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JESSICA holding fund, is not considered property of VIPA. Within the accounting of VIPA the funds are accounted 
for by applying to them a separate accounting code. 

 

AUTHORISED CAPITAL AND RESERVES 
 

The authorised capital and reserves are accounted for at nominal value. 
According to the Law on Companies of the Republic of Lithuania, the Company must transfer to the legal 

reserve 5 percent of the net profit of the reporting period, until the reserve accounts for at least 10 percent of 
the authorised capital. The legal reserve may be used only to cover the loss of the Company. 

Following the distribution of profit (loss) for 2015, the Company's legal reserve of EUR 200 115 was 
formed. 

 

ACCOUNTING OF LIABILITIES 
 

Liabilities are registered in the accounting when liabilities arise in the context of operations. Liabilities 
also include the liabilities of unused holidays to the employees. 

Considering that in 2007–2013 the funds of the EU technical assistance are designed for actions related 
to the administration of a specific EU structural action programme in 2007–2013 rather than a targeted support 
to the Company, other liabilities also include the amounts received for the acquisition of non-current assets in 
relation to the project ‘Implementation of the functions of the preparedness of VIPA to implement a programme 
that during the next programming period will replace the EU structural assistance use strategy for 2007–2013, 
and the implementing action programmes’ to the extent that the acquired non-current assets is not yet 
depreciated, and provided during the reporting period some appropriations were received to compensate the 
paid deferred charges. 
 

ACCOUNTING OF REVENUES 
 

Revenues in the Company are recognised according to the accrual principle, i.e., recorded in the 
accounting when earned regardless of the receipt of money. 

Sales revenues are represented by the fair value of the remuneration received or receivable for the 
services provided by the Company as a part of its operational activities. Sales revenues are recognised when the 
amount of money may be reliably measured. 

 

ACCOUNTING OF COSTS 
 

Costs are recognised on the basis of the accrual and comparability principles in the reporting period 
during which the related income is earned, regardless of the time of spending cash. 

Costs of the Company are broken down into sales revenues and operating expenses. The sale costs 
include the different costs related to the Company’s operations: salaries of responsible employees, costs of 
services and goods required for operations, and that can be clearly separated and identified. Operating costs 
include general and administrative costs required for ensuring proper operations of the Company. 

Costs incurred by the Company in the implementation of 2014-2020 projects “Administration of the 
Action Programme” and “Informing about the Action Programme” are covered from 2014-2020 EU technical 
assistance funds.  

 

CONTINGENCIES 

 

Contingent liabilities are not recorded in the financial statements, however, they are disclosed, except 
for the cases when their impact upon financial results is insignificant. 

Contingent assets are not recorded in the financial statements, however, they is disclosed in the 
explanatory notes to financial statements, in case the Company expects to generate economic benefit from such 
assets. 

  

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

All the subsequent events (adjusting events) are accounted for in the financial statements, if such events 
are related to the reporting period and have a significant impact upon the financial statements.  
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EXPLANATORY NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
Note 1 Intangible assets (EUR) 

 

Item Licences Software Total 

Acquisition value 

At the beginning of the reporting period 12.210 74.469 86.679 

Acquired assets 61.314 18.576 79.889 

At the end of the reporting period 73.524 93.045 166.568 

Accrued amortisation 

At the beginning of the reporting period 5.413 21.207 26.620 

Estimated amortisation 4.388 29.427 33.815 

At the end of the reporting period 9.801 50.634 60.435 

Residual value 

At the beginning of the reporting period 6.797 53.262 60.059 

At the end of the reporting period 63.722 42.411 106.133 
 
VIPA does not have any intangible assets (intended to be) acquired under leasing contracts 
 

Note 2 Non-current tangible assets (EUR) 
 

Item 
Machinery 

and  
equipment 

Other  
equipment 

Other  
non-current 

assets 
Total 

Acquisition value 

At the beginning of the reporting period 1.083 111.796 6.121 119.000 

Acquired assets 0 27.263 12.184 39.447 

At the end of the reporting period 1.083 139.059 18.305 158.447 

Accrued amortisation 

At the beginning of the reporting period 513 40.097 2.168 42.778 

Estimated amortisation 216 39.449 1.612 41.277 

At the end of the reporting period 729 79.546 3.780 84.055 

Residual value 

At the beginning of the reporting period 570 71.699 3.953 76.222 

At the end of the reporting period 354 59.513 14.525 74.392 
 

VIPA does not have any assets (intended to be) acquired under leasing contracts 
 

Note 3 Financial assets (EUR) 

Item 
Last day of the 

reporting period 

Last day of the  
previous reporting 

period 

-  Loans granted for the renovation (modernization) of 
multi apartment buildings 

17.110.286 21.241.840 

- Loans granted for the renovation (modernization) of 
dormitories of schools of higher education and vocational 

training institutions 
11.164.737 7.805.546 

Total 28.275.023 29.047.386 
 
The Items of the non-current financial assets record the value of the loans granted in relation to the 

implementation of the multi apartment building renovation (modernization) programmes, and the programmes 
for the renovation (modernization) of dormitories of schools of higher education and vocational training 
institutions, funded by the JESSICA holding fund.   

The amounts receivable are not considered to be property of VIPA. VIPA is a financial intermediary 
performing the functions related to the administration of loans. VIPA is obliged to transfer the amounts 



Private limited liability company 
Public Investment Development Agency 

Legal entity code 303039520 
Headquarters address Lukiškių g. 2, LT-01512, Vilnius 

 

52 

 

receivable to the European Investment Bank, following the conditions and the requirements of the Conditional 
Loan Agreements of 18 July and 19 August 2013. 

 
Note 4 Inventories (EUR) 

Item 
Last day of the 

reporting period 

Last day of the  
previous reporting 

period 

Balance at the beginning of the reporting period 14 25 

Acquisitions during the reporting period 29.919 2.635 

Write-offs during the reporting period 11.846 2.646 

Residual value 18.087 14 
 
Note 5 Prepayments and deferred costs (EUR) 

Item 
Last day of the 

reporting period 

Last day of the  
previous reporting 

period 

Prepayments to suppliers 52.345 1.733 

Deferred costs 9.503 7.918 

Total 61.848 9.651 
 

     

Prepayments 
Last day of the 

reporting period 

Last day of the  
previous reporting 

period 

- for subscription services   21 
- for goods supply services 809 106 

- for managed printing services   154 

- for professional development services 429 402 
- for the lease of vehicle parking spots 1.593 1.050 

- for audit services 2.715   

- for software acquisition 46.800   

Total 52.346 1.733 

   

Deferred costs 
Last day of the 

reporting period 

Last day of the  
previous reporting 

period 

- subscription 254 251 

- vehicle insurance   429 

- warranty maintenance of printers 181 496 

- annual anti-virus license fee 997   

- business trip costs   2.714 

- professional development costs   2.900 

- costs related to employment relations 8.071 1.128 

     

Total 9.503 7.918 
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Note 6 Amounts receivable (EUR) 

Amounts receivable 
Last day of the 

reporting period 

Last day of the  
previous reporting 

period 

Related to a project implemented by VIPA 19.596 19.537 

Management fee receivable 1.665.032 807.295 

Budget debt to the Company 41.200   

Total 1.725.828 826.832 

   
 

  

Amounts receivable related to the  
administration of the funds of JESSICA holding fund 

Last day of the 
reporting period 

Last day of the  
previous reporting 

period 

Funds of the programme for the renovation 
(modernization) of multi apartment buildings 

  2.169.397 

Funds of the programme for the renovation 
(modernization) of dormitories of schools of higher educa-

tion and vocational training institutions 
  3.657.626 

Interest received for granted loans 734.082 492.611 

Current portion of long-term debts 949.290 674.312 

Total 1.683.372 6.993.946 

   
 

Note 7 Cash at bank (EUR)   

  
Last day of the 

reporting period 

Last day of the  
previous reporting 

period 

VIPA funds 1.217.826 2.058.813 
Funds of the programme for the renovation 

(modernization) of multi apartment buildings 
5.133.641 1.291.138 

Funds of the programme for the renovation 
(modernization) of dormitories 304.301 

736.104 

Funds of Horizon 2020 project 38.169   
      

Total 6.693.937 4.086.055 

   
For the avoidance of risk, settlements can be made and orders are executed by a bank payment order 

only. 
The funds of the programme for the renovation (modernization) of multi apartment buildings may be 

used exceptionally for the renovation (modernization) of multi apartment buildings, i.e. fund transfers to 
contractors, payment of the VIPA management fee, repayments to the European Investment Bank. 

The funds of the programme for the renovation (modernization) of dormitories may be used 
exceptionally for the renovation (modernization) of dormitories, i.e. fund transfers to contractors, payment of 
the VIPA management fee, repayments to the European Investment Bank. 
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Note 8 Shareholder's equity 

Shareholder 

Total ordinary 
shares (units) 

Value of the 
ordinary shares 

(EUR) 
% 

31.12.2016 31.12.2016 31.12.2016 

Ministry of Finance of the  
Republic of Lithuania 

69.100 2.001.136 100 

Total 69.100 2.001.136 100 

    
Profit (loss) per share was computed by dividing net profit (net loss) of the Company for the reporting 

period by the number of shares. 
 

Item 
Last day of the 

reporting period  
(31.12.2016) 

Last day of the previous 
reporting period 

(31.12.2015) 

Net profit (loss) of the reporting period, EUR 424.272 653.999 

Number of shares, pcs. 69.100 3.500 

Profit (loss) per share, EUR 6 
187 

 

 
Note 9 Legal reserve (EUR) 

Item 
Last day of the 

reporting period 
Last day of the previous 

reporting period 

Legal reserve 200.115 10.137 

   
Note 10 Retained earnings (loss)(EUR) 
 

The income of VIPA consists of the management fee received for:  
- performance of the functions of a financial intermediary for the purpose of the multi apartment 

building renovation (modernization) programme;  
- performance of the functions of a financial intermediary for the purpose of the programme for the 

renovation (modernization) of dormitories of schools of higher education and vocational training 
institutions; 

- performance of the functions of the manager of the Multi Apartment Buildings Modernization Fund; 
- Performance of the functions of the manager of the Energy Efficiency Fund. 
 

Item Total income 

Performance of financial intermediary functions 916.114 

Performance of the fund manager function 856.312 

Total 1.772.426 
 
The balance sheet and the income statement of VIPA include the income from interest for granted loans 

funded from the JESSCA holding fund resources, and which must be transferred to the European Investment 
Bank as the manager of the JESSICA holding fund. 

 
 

Item Interest income 

Interest income from the loans granted for the modernization of multi 
apartment buildings 

587.800 

Interest income from the loans granted for the renovation (moderniza-
tion) of dormitories of schools of higher education and vocational train-

ing institutions 
295.921 

Total 
 

883.721 
 

 
 

 
 



Private limited liability company 
Public Investment Development Agency 

Legal entity code 303039520 
Headquarters address Lukiškių g. 2, LT-01512, Vilnius 

 

55 

 

Item 
 

Other income 
 

Other operating income 26 

Income from interest on fines 727 

Other financial income 343 

Total 1.096 
 
VIPA implements 2014-2020 projects “Administering Action Programme” and “Informing about the 

Action Programme”, expenses incurred at the time whereof are compensated from 2014-2020 EU technical 
support funds. 

Item 
Costs of the 

reporting period 

Compensation 
of the costs 

for 2016 
Costs 

Salaries and social insurance costs 831.265 84.705 746.560 

Depreciation and amortisation 78.040 4.160 73.880 

Premises rent cost 56.848 6.371 50.477 

Utility services 17.971 3.084 14.887 

Vehicle operation cost 7.667   7.667 

Communication services costs 3.747 464 3.283 

Business travel costs 37.520 717 36.803 

Professional development costs 30.246 2.368 27.878 

Consulting and legal services 130.127   130.127 

Non-current assets maintenance services 20.149   20.149 

Operating costs 149.053 21.837 127.216 

Income tax costs 76.212   76.212 

Total 1.438.845 123.706 1.315.139 

    
 
Note 11 Amounts payable and liabilities (EUR) 
 

Creditors 

Debts payable 

Within one year After one year 

Last day of the 
reporting  

period 

Last day of the 
previous re-

porting 
period 

Last day of the 
reporting  

period 

Last day of the 
previous re-

porting 
period 

To suppliers 7.796 48.733     

Liabilities related to 
Employment relations 

92 893     

Holidays accruals 41.603 26.500     

Accrued expenses 4.066 15.594     

Debts to credit institutions 1.517.815 634.094 33.864.316 37.344.538 

Received prepayments 85.283 2.023.533     

Other amounts payable and li-
abilities 

3.411       

Income tax liabilities   116.893     

Total 1.660.066 2.866.240 33.864.316 37.344.538 

     
 
As of 31 December 2016, the holiday reserve was computed having regard to the average wages 

expenses, and the accrued unused days of holidays until the end of the reporting period. 
 

The prepayment item includes: 
- EUR 13 618 - loan contributions transferred by loan recipients in advance; 
- EUR 32 584 – received funds of the project “Implementation of the functions of the preparedness 

of VIPA to implement a programme, which will replace the strategy for the use of EU structural assistance for 
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2007–2013 during the next programming period, and the implementing action programmes” unused in previous 
reporting periods; 

- EUR 38 175 - funds of Horizon 2020 project; 
- EUR 906 - obligations to the European Investment Bank to cover part of the obligations of insolvent 

borrowers, according to the Conditional Loan Agreement signed on 19 August 2013 regarding the 
renovation (modernization) of multi apartment buildings. 

The non-current liabilities section carries the following liabilities to the European Investment Bank: 
- according to the Conditional Loan Agreement of 18 July 2013 regarding the renovation  

(modernization) of dormitories; 
- according to the Conditional Loan Agreement of 19 August 2013 regarding the renovation 

(modernization) of multi apartment dormitories. 
The current liabilities section, item “Debts to credit institutions” accounts for interest on loans payable 

to the European Investment Bank. 
 

Note 12 Contingent liabilities  
 

Paragraph 28 of the 18th Business Accounting Standard “Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities” 

provides that financial liabilities shall be accounted for when, and only when, an entity assumes an obligation to 

deliver cash or another financial asset. Forecast transactions and originated financial guarantees that are not yet 

due shall not be recognised as the entity's liabilities as long as they do not meet the definition of a financial 

liability’. The financial statements for the period ended 31 December 2016 do not include the data on the 

obligation assumed by VIPA to repay 11 % insolvent loans (overdue for more than 60 days) related to the 

renovation (modernization) of multi apartment buildings according to Conditional Loan Agreement No. 2013-

0376 with the European Investment Bank of 19 August 2013.   

 

Note 14 Other relevant information  
 

While implementing the Conditional Loan Agreement concluded on 19 August 2013 by VIPA jointly with 

the CPVA with the European Investment Bank regarding the renovation (modernization) of multi apartment 

buildings through the implementation of activities of the JESSICA, by 31 December 2016, VIPA had concluded 

115 loan agreements regarding the renovation (modernization) of multi apartment buildings for a total value of 

EUR 29.8 million. As at 31 December 2016, the value of actually disbursed loans was EUR 29.5 million. 

While implementing the Conditional Loan Agreement concluded on 19 August 2013 by VIPA jointly with 

the CPVA with the European Investment Bank regarding the renovation (modernization) of dormitories of 

schools of higher education and vocational training institutions, by 31 December 2016 VIPA had concluded 16 

loan agreements. The total value of concluded agreements is EUR 11.7 million. As at 31 December 2016, all loans 

were actually disbursed totalling EUR 11.7 million.  

On 18 February 2015, VIPA concluded a tripartite agreement on the establishment and funding of the 

Energy Efficiency Fund (ENEF) with the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Lithuania and the Ministry of 

Energy of the Republic of Lithuania. The ENEF was established as a fund of funds that is on a trust basis managed 

and administered by VIPA. The purpose of the Fund is an increase of energy efficiency by investing into the public 

infrastructure. The total contribution of ENEF is EUR 79.65 million. 

On 27 March 2015, VIPA concluded a tripartite agreement on the establishment and funding of the Multi 

Apartment Buildings Modernization Fund (DNMF) with the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Lithuania and 

the Ministry of Environment of the Republic of Lithuania. The purpose of the DNMF is to promote the 

enhancement of energy efficiency by investing in the modernization of multi apartment buildings. On 17 

September 2015, the DNMF contract was amended increasing the total contribution of DNMF by EUR 74 million. 

The ENEF was established as a financial instrument that is on a trust basis managed and administered by VIPA. 

By 31 December 2016, 237 agreements on the modernization of multi apartment buildings for EUR 80 million 

were concluded (returning funds were used for over-contracting of the agreements). As at 31 December 2016, 

the value of the actually disbursed loans was EUR 73.6 million.  

On 1 January 2016, the funds of funds became entities of the public sector, and their accounting has been 

separated from VIPA accounting since then. 
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Note 15 Financial relations with managers of the Company and other related persons 
 

Indicators 31.12.2016 31.12.2015 
Balance at the 

end of the 
financial year 

A. Amounts related to employment relations 
for the year: 

81.658 59.123   

To managers 81.658 59.123   

To other related persons - -   

B. Loans granted by the Company: - -   

To managers       

To other related persons       

C. Loans received by the Company: - -   

From managers       

From other related persons       

D. Donated assets and gifts: - - 

X To managers     

To other related persons     

E. Different guarantees granted on behalf of the 
Company: 

- -   

To managers       

To other related persons       

F. Other significant amounts calculated during the 
year 

- -   

To managers       

To other related persons       

G. Other significant liabilities to the Company: - -   

From managers       

From other related persons       

H. Assets sold: - - 

X To managers     

To other related persons     

Average number of managers in the year 3 2 X 

 
Managing Director    Gvidas Dargužas 

 
 
 

Chief Financial Officer    Raimonda Lauraitytė  


